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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on The Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a
market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any
loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China E-Learning Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s continuing
operations recorded revenue of approximately HK$47,474,000
(2013: HK$47,066,000) representing tuition fee revenue and
sales of educational products. Gross profit for the year under
review was approximately HK$19,794,000 (2013:
HK$21,968,000), representing a gross profit margin of 41.7%
for the year under review.

During the year, cost of sales for continuing operations amounted
to approximately HK$27,680,000 (2013: HK$25,098,000)
representing the overheads incurred in the distance learning
courses.

Other income for the year under review was approximately
HK$3,839,000 (2013: HK$667,000) representing the gain on
disposal of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$19,000 (2013: HK$241,000), an interest income of
approximately HK$1,929,000 and a sundry income of
approximately HK$1,891,000 (2013: HK$383,000).

Administrative expenses for continuing operations for the year
under review were approximately HK$33,143,000 (2013:
HK$34,917,000), of which staff related costs were approximately
HK$12,406,000 (2013: HK$12,780,000). Professional fees were
approximately HK$7,229,000 (2013: HK$5,617,000)
representing the costs of conducting due diligences and
obtaining financial advices with ongoing projects.

Other expenses for the year under review were approximately
HK$251,000 (2013: HK$462,000), representing a charitable
donation of approximately HK$251,000 (2013: HK$251,000) and
the loss on redemption of convertible notes of HK$nil (2013:
HK$209,000).

Finance costs during the year were approximately
HK$10,292,000 (2013: HK$9,807,000). They primarily consist
of interest expenses on financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost of approximately HK$7,292,000 (2013: HK$12,029,000)
and compensation for non-cash settlement on financial liabilities
of HK$3,000,000 (2013: Nil).
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Capital structure, liquidity and financial
resources

The Group financed its business operations mainly by cash
revenue generated internally from operating activities and
additional funds from exercise of share and options and placing.
As at 31 December 2014, the Group has current assets of
approximately HK$359,798,000 (2013: HK$133,718,000),
including bank balances and cash of approximately
HK$187,412,000 (2013: HK$15,101,000). Total non-current
assets of the Group amounted to approximately HK$7,090,000
(2013: HK$1,165,000), representing property, plant and
equipment. Total assets of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$366,888,000 (2013: HK$134,883,000) as at 31 December
2014,

In September 2011, the Group made provision of a loan to Beijing
Everjoy Cultural Communication Co. Ltd. (the “Borrower”) by
way of an agreement for an amount of RMB8,182,000, with a
security on two separate equity pledges. On 4 September 2014,
the Lender, Beijing Hua Tuo Education Technology Company
Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) and the
Borrowers entered into a deed of termination (the “Termination
Deed”) of the Loan Agreement (as amended by the First
Supplemental Agreement, the Second Supplemental Agreement
and the Third Supplemental Agreement) (collectively the
“Amended Loan Agreement”) as the Borrowers had fully repaid
the loan in the sum of RMB8,182,000 and all interest accrued
thereon and also paid RMB1,500,000 to the Company as
compensation as the Profits Guarantee failed to materialize as
agreed under the Amended Loan Agreement. Following the
entering into of the Termination Deed, the Amended Loan
Agreement is terminated and all its terms and conditions have
ceased to be of any effect and all the parties to the Termination
Deed are released from all obligations, liabilities, claims and
demands.
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On 7 November 2014, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with the placing agent to place an aggregate of
465,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each at a price of HK$0.539
per placing share. The aggregate net proceeds were
approximately HK$247,000,000. The issuance of the placing
shares completed on 21 November 2014. The net proceeds
from the placing, after deduction of the placing commission and
other related expenses, of approximately HK$247,000,000, are
intended to be used for general working capital of the Group
and for any possible acquisition and other investment
opportunities in the future. During the year under review, part of
the net proceeds from the placing were used for general working
capital of the Group.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group did not have any
outstanding bank borrowing. Total current liabilities of the Group
were approximately HK$54,001,000 (2013: HK$137,162,000),
which mainly comprised trade and other payables, convertible
notes and the related financial derivatives. Total liabilities of the
Group were approximately HK$54,001,000 (2013:
HK$228,731,000). As at 31 December 2014, the Group had
net assets of HK$312,887,000 (2013: HK$93,848,000 net
liabilities).

Gearing ratio

Gearing ratio of the Group, as expressed as the ratio of total
liabilities to total assets, was approximately 0.15 as at 31
December 2014 (2013: 1.7).

Share Capital

As at 1 January 2014, the authorised share capital of the
Company was HK$5,000,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.10 each and the issued share capital of the
Company was approximately HK$161,422,290 divided into
1,614,222,902 shares of HK$0.10 each.

During the year, 880,048,294 shares were issued upon
conversion of convertible notes.

During the year, 255,000,000 shares were issued upon exercise
of shares options.
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On 7 November 2014, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with the placing agent to place an aggregate of
465,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each at a price of HK$0.539
per placing share. The aggregate net proceeds were
approximately HK$247,000,000. The issuance of the placing
shares completed on 21 November 2014.

As at 31 December 2014, the authorised share capital of the
Company was HK$5,000,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.10 each and the issued share capital of the
Company was approximately HK$321,427,119 divided into
3,214,271,196 shares of HK$0.10 each.

Convertible Notes 2011

The Group had reached several agreements with the holders of
the Convertible Notes 2008 which became mature on 28
February 2011, and issued a promissory note for approximately
HK$50 million for a settlement. In order to be able to raise
sufficient fund for the settlement, the Group issued two tranches
of convertible notes (“Convertible Notes 2011 A”) on 9 May 2011
and (“Convertible Notes 2011 B”) on 11 May 2011.

The aggregate principal of Convertible Notes 2011 A amounted
to HK$89,999,934, bearing an interest of 1% per annum,
maturing in 36 months from the date of issue, and convertible
into ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$0.50 per share,
subject to adjustments.

The aggregate principal of Convertible Notes 2011 B amounted
to HK$36,200,000, bearing an interest of 1% per annum,
maturing in 6 months from the date of issue, and convertible
into ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$0.50 per share,
subject to adjustments.On 11 November 2011, the maturity date
was successfully postponed for another 6 months to 11 May
2012. Upon maturity, the principal amount together with the
interests due were fully settled by a promissory note.

As at 1 January 2014, the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Notes 2011 A was HK$29,999,934. The exercise in
full of the vested conversion rights would result in the issue and
allotment of 59,999,868 new shares of the Company.
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On 9 May 2014, the Company and the subscribers entered into
the Subscription Agreements pursuant to which the subscribers
have agreed to subscribe for, and the Company has agreed to
issue the Convertible Notes (CN2016-1 to CN2016-5) in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$42,399,932, such that the
subscription moneys payable in connection with the subscription
of such Convertible Notes would be set-off against the moneys
payable by the Company for redeeming the CN2011A in
accordance with the Payment Arrangement Deed and against
the Indebtedness owing by the Company to the existing P-note
Holders at Completion.

The Convertible Notes 2011 A were fully set-off by the issuance
of Convertible Notes (CN2016-3, CN2016-4 and CN2016-5) on
6 June 2014.

On 12 June 2014, the conversion rights attaching to the
CN2016-1, CN2016-2 and CN2016-3 have been exercised in
full and hence 231,076,922 shares have been issued.

On 13 June 2014, the conversion rights attaching to the
CN2016-4 and CN2016-5 have been exercised in full and hence
95,076,399 shares have been issued.

As at 31 December 2014, Convertible Notes 2016 (CN2016-1,
CN2016-2, CN2016-3, CN2016-4 and CN2016-5) were fully
converted.

On 21 July 2011, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with a group of independent subscribers for the
issuance of some convertible notes in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$42,000,000, bearing an interest rate of 3% per
annum, maturing in 12 months from the date of issue, and
convertible into ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$0.50
per share, subject to adjustments. Subsequently, the Group
issued two tranches of convertible notes (“Convertible Notes
2011 C”) on 25 August 2011 for the principal amount of
HK$19,500,000 and (“Convertible Notes 2011 D”) on 14
September 2011 for the principal amount of HK$22,500,000.
Of which, tranche C was fully converted in 2011. On 10
September 2012, the maturity date of the tranche D was
postponed for another 6 months to 7 March 2013. On 7 March
2013, the maturity date of the tranche D was further postponed
for 12 months to 6 March 2014.
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As at 1 January 2014, the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Notes 2011 D was HK$12,800,000. The exercise in
full of the vested conversion rights would result in the issue and
allotment of 25,600,000 new shares of the Company.

On 6 March 2014, the Company has redeemed one of the
Convertible Notes 2011 D with the principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 in accordance with notice from the holder. The
Company is contacting the holder of the Convertible Notes 2011
D with the principal amount of HK$2,800,000 in order to settle
the amount arising from the mature of the convertible notes. As
at 31 December 2014, the Company has not received any reply
or notice from the holder and the Company has the funds
available for settlement.

Convertible Notes 2012

Pursuant to the acquisition of 100% interest in Everjoy
Technology Development Corporation, the Company issued
convertible notes (“ETCN”) as partial settlement of the acquisition
consideration on 20 December 2012. The aggregate principal
of the ETCN amounted to HK$9,611,906, bearing an interest of
1% per annum, maturing in 36 months from the date of issue,
and convertible into ordinary shares at conversion price of
HK$0.50 per share, subject to adjustments.

As at 1 January 2014, the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of the ETCN was HK$9,611,906. The exercise in full of
the vested conversion rights would result in the issue and
allotment of 19,223,812 new shares of the Company.

On 24 April 2014, the conversion rights attaching to the ETCN
with the principal amount of HK$7,611,906 have been exercised
in full and hence 15,223,812 shares have been issued.

Pursuant to the acquisition of 100% interest in Everjoy
International Media Corporation, the Company issued convertible
notes (“EICN”) as partial settlement of the acquisition
consideration on 20 December 2012. The aggregate principal
of the EICN amounted to HK$58,235,956, bearing an interest
of 1% per annum, maturing in 36 months from the date of issue,
and convertible into ordinary shares at conversion price of
HK$0.50 per share, subject to adjustments.
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As at 1 January 2014, the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of the EICN was HK$58,235,956. The exercise in full of
the vested conversion rights would result in the issue and
allotment of 116,471,912 new shares of the Company.

On 15 August 2014 (after trading hours), the Company and the
note holders of ETCN and EICN entered into the Deeds of
Amendment, pursuant to which the Company and the note
holders of ETCN and EICN agreed to amend certain terms and
conditions of ETCN and EICN. Pursuant to the Deeds of
Amendment, (i) the conversion price of ETCN and EICN will be
reduced from HK$0.50 per Share to HK$0.35 per Share; and (i)
the interest rate of ETCN and EICN will be reduced from 1% per
annum to zero. Save as amended pursuant to the Deeds of
Amendment, all other terms of ETCN and EICN shall remain
unchanged and valid.

Furthermore, the Company and each of the note holders of ETCN
and EICN entered into a supplemental deed to amend certain
terms of the Deeds of Amendment on 16 September 2014.

Assuming the conversion rights attaching to ETCN and EICN
are exercised in full at the conversion price of HK$0.35, pursuant
to ETCN and EICN, 172,102,729 conversion shares will be
issued by the Company upon exercise of the conversion rights
attaching to ETCN and EICN in full.

On 25 September 2014, an ordinary resolution regarding the
proposed Amendment of Terms and the Deeds of Amendment
and the transactions contemplated thereunder was proposed
to the Company’s extraordinary general meeting held on
15 October 2014 for independent shareholders’ approval by way
of poll.

On 15 October 2014, the resolution in relation to the proposed
amendment to the terms and conditions of ETCN and EICN was
duly passed by the independent shareholders by way of poll at
the Company’s extraordinary general meeting.
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On 27 October 2014, the Stock Exchange granted its approval
for the Amendment of Terms and the listing of the conversion
shares to be issued as a result of the exercise of the conversion
rights attaching to ETCN and EICN as amended by the Deeds
of Amendment and therefore all the conditions precedent for
the Amendment of Terms under the Deeds of Amendment have
been fulfilled and the Amendment of Terms has become effective
on 27 October 2014.

On 30 October 2014, the conversion rights attaching to ETCN
in the principal amount of HK$2,000,000 have been exercised
and hence 5,714,285 shares have been issued. Hence ETCN
were fully converted as at 31 December 2014.

On 30 October 2014, the conversion rights attaching to EICN in
the principal amount of HK$35,000,000 have been exercised
and hence 99,999,999 shares have been issued. On 16
December 2014, the conversion rights attaching to EICN in the
principal amount of HK$13,235,956 have been exercised and
hence 37,817,017 shares have been issued.

As at 31 December 2014, the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of EICN was HK$10,000,000. The exercise in full of the
vested conversion rights would result in the issue and allotment
of 28,571,428 new shares of the Company.

Convertible Notes 2014

On 29 November 2013, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with a subscriber pursuant to which the Company
has agreed to issue, and the subscriber has agreed to subscribe
for the convertible notes (“CN2014-1") with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$6,000,000 maturing in 12 months from
the date of issue at 1% annual coupon rate, which may be
converted into 60,000,000 shares at the conversion price of
HK$0.10 per share (subject to adjustment). The subscription
consideration of HK$6,000,000 was setoff in full against the
equivalent amount of indebtedness owing by the Company to
the subscriber. On the same day, the Company also entered
into another subscription agreement with another subscriber
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pursuant to which the Company has agreed to issue, and the
subscriber has agreed to subscribe for the convertible notes
(“CN2014-2") with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$5,000,000 maturing in 12 months from the date of issue at
1% annual coupon rate, which may be converted into
50,000,000 shares at the conversion price of HK$0.10 per share
(subject to adjustment). The subscription consideration of
HK$5,000,000 was setoff in full against the equivalent amount
of indebtedness owing by the Company to the subscriber.

Furthermore, on 10 December 2013, the Company entered into
a subscription agreement with a subscriber pursuant to which
the Company has agreed to issue, and the subscriber has agreed
to subscribe for the convertible notes (“CN2014-3”) with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 maturing in 12
months from the date of issue at 1% annual coupon rate, which
may be converted into 100,000,000 shares at the conversion
price of HK$0.10 per share (subject to adjustment). The
subscription consideration of HK$10,000,000 was setoff in full
against the equivalent amount of indebtedness owing by the
Company to the subscriber. On the same day, the Company
also entered into another subscription agreement with another
subscriber pursuant to which the Company has agreed to issue,
and the subscriber has agreed to subscribe for the convertible
notes (“CN2014-4”) with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$4,234,400 maturing in 12 months from the date of issue at
1% annual coupon rate, which may be converted into
42,344,000 shares at the conversion price of HK$0.10 per share
(subject to adjustment). The subscription consideration of
HK$4,234,000 was setoff in full against the equivalent amount
of indebtedness owing by the Company to the subscriber.

On 19 December 2013, the conversion rights attaching to
CN2014-3 and CN2014-4 have been exercised in full and hence
142,344,000 shares have been issued.

As at 1 January 2014, the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of the CN2014-1 and CN2014-2 was HK$11,000,000.
The exercise in full of the vested conversion rights would result
in the issue and allotment of 110,000,000 new shares of the
Company.
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On 20 June 2014, the conversion rights attaching to CN2014-1
and CN2014-2 with the principal amount of HK$11,000,000
have been exercised in full and hence 110,000,000 shares have
been issued. Hence, Convertible Notes 2014 were fully
converted as at 31 December 2014.

Convertible Notes 2016A

On 27 June 2014 (after trading hours), the Company entered
into the Subscription Agreement with Mr. Yang Dong Jun (“Mr.
Yang”), pursuant to which the Company has agreed to issue,
and Mr. Yang has agreed to subscribe for, the Convertible Notes
2016A with an aggregate principal amount of HK$40,775,000,
which may be converted into 285,139,860 conversion shares
at the conversion price of HK$0.143 per conversion share
(subject to adjustment). The subscription consideration of
HK$40,775,000 was setoff in full against the equivalent amount
of indebtedness owing by the Company to Mr. Yang.

The Convertible Notes 2016A, which are mature after 24 months
of the issue date, shall carry interest at the rate of 1% per annum
payable in arrears yearly on the 31st day of December each
year or, if earlier, upon full conversion of the Convertible Notes
2016A. The Conversion Shares, upon issue, shall rank pari passu
in all respects with the shares then in issue. Completion of the
issue of the Convertible Notes 2016A in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$40,775,000 took place on 8 July 2014.

On 25 July 2014, the conversion rights attaching to the
Convertible Notes 2016A in the principal amount of
HK$10,725,000 have been exercised and hence 75,000,000
shares have been issued. On 18 August 2014, the conversion
rights attaching to the Convertible Notes 2016A in the principal
amount of HK$5,005,000 have been exercised and hence
35,000,000 shares have been issued.

On 16 December 2014, the conversion rights attaching to the
Convertible Notes 2016A in the principal amount of
HK$25,045,000 have been exercised and hence 175,139,860
shares have been issued. Hence convertible notes 2016A were
fully converted as at 31 December 2014.
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Foreign exchange exposure

Most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Although the
exchange rate between Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi has
been moderately changing, it remains relatively stable. As the
expenditure in PRC was covered by the sales in PRC, the
management considers that the Group has no significant foreign
exchange exposures. Foreign exchange risk arising from the
normal course of operations is considered as minimal. As at 31
December 2014, the Group has no foreign currency borrowings
and has not used any financial instrument for hedging the foreign
exchange risk.

Significant investments and material
acquisition

On 17 November 2014, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement (“Strategic Cooperation Agreement”)
with Beijing Beizhong Asset Management Company Limited
dEREPEEERBRAA
the transfer of 49% of the right of income of the Distance

) (“Beijing Beizhong”) in relation to

Education College of the Beijing University of Chinese Medicine
Jt R B K 2 RI2 2 A 2%) from the Belijing University of
Chinese Medicine (b = /& % X £2) to the Company and other
cooperation projects (the “Cooperation”).

On 12 February 2015, the Company and Beijing Beizhong agreed
in writing to extend the time for taking practical actions in respect
of the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation Agreement
for another three months.

Contingent liabilities and charges on the
Group’s assets

There were no significant contingent liabilities or charges on the
Group’s assets as at 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).
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OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of an internet
platform for the facilitation of education program in Chinese
medicine and other advisory and training programs.

On 1 July 2010, the Joint Construction of Network Education
College of Beijing University of Chinese Medicine Agreement
(I RPEE KNSR HE 2 HEE) (“Joint Construction
Agreement”) entered into between Beijing University of Chinese
Medicine (1t 7 A7 B8 %5 K ) and Hunan 1IN Medical Network
Technology Development Co., Ltd. (“Hunan IIN Medical”), a
subsidiary of 1IN Medical (BVI), was successfully renewed. In
accordance with the Joint Construction Agreement, Hunan IIN
Medical’s entitlement to share 60% of the profits of Distance
Education College of Beijing University of Chinese Medicine (1b
TR BR s K Bix FE 2 A 2 %) (“Distance Education College”) is
reduced to 51% profit-sharing percentage during the year 2010
while all other terms and conditions thereunder are not less
favourable than those under the Joint Construction Agreement.
This e-learning business remained the core business of the
Group in 2014.

In an attempt to expand its income stream and diversify its
business spectrum, the Company has acquired the entire share
capital of Everjoy Technology Development Corporation and
Everjoy International Media Corporation (“Everjoy”) in 2012. The
completion of this acquisition was done in December 2012,
however it did not make significant contribution to the
performance in 2012. The businesses of Everjoy started to record
revenue in the second quarter of 2013 and the performance of
Everjoy was unsatisfactory to the Group. The profit made by
Everjoy during the first six months in the year 2013 was far below
the expectation of the Board of the Company. It is also expected
that the profit of Everjoy will not be greatly improved unless
substantial resources are allocated thereto.
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In view of the above, it is decided to dispose of Everjoy and to
devote resources to its existing business and any other potential
businesses, if any. On 31 October 2013 (after trading hours), the
Company entered into the an agreement with the purchaser
pursuant to which the Company has agreed to sell, and the
purchaser has agreed to purchase, the entire share capital of
Everjoy at the consideration, which was determined based on
the fair values of Everjoy assessed by the independent professional
valuer jointly appointed by the parties to the agreement.

On 27 February 2014, Roma Appraisals Limited, being an
independent professional valuer jointly appointed by the parties
to the agreement, issued its reports on the fair values of Everjoy.
Thus, the considerations for the disposal of Everjoy at
RMB20,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$26,368,000)
was fixed. The completion of the disposal took place on 12
March 2014.

Employee Information

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had a total of 37 employees
(2013: 32 employees) (including executive directors). For the
year under review, the total staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$12,406,000 (2013: HK$12,780,000),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$374,000 over the
previous year.

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees were kept
at a market level and employees were rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s salary and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.
Staff benefits include contribution to the mandatory provident
fund and share options. Share options were granted to
employees of the Group in the current year, whereby comparative
details are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

PROSPECTS

The Group’s existing e-learning business will remain the core
business and main cash generator in the near future. This
business is expected to grow in a rather stable manner.
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On 17 November 2014, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement (“Strategic Cooperation Agreement”)
with Beijing Beizhong Asset Management Company Limited
JERIEPEEEEBRAA
the transfer of 49% of the right of income of the Distance

) (“Beijing Beizhong”) in relation to

Education College of the Beijing University of Chinese Medicine
(b R A B8 B oK B2 iR F2 2 B E2B7) from the Beijing University of
Chinese Medicine (1t )/ & % X £2) to the Company and other
cooperation projects (the “Cooperation”) .

On 12 February 2015, the Company and Beijing Beizhong agreed
in writing to extend the time for taking practical actions in respect
of the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation Agreement
for another three months.

Furthermore, the Group will implement certain cost-effective
measures to streamline the operation so as to enhance the
profitability and value of this e-learning business. The Company
will continue to look for opportunities for our existing business,
particularly in developing both vertically and horizontally within
the Group’s existing medical education platform, expanding
further into our service network, increase the shareholders’ value
and reduce business risk.

In addition, the Company will continue to look for other attractive
investments in the PRC and locally in an attempt to diversify
into different business areas to reduce the reliance upon existing
e-learning business and strengthen the positive cash flow and
earnings for the Group in the long run.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yuan Wei (“Mr. Yuan”), aged 43, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 19 November 2013 and
further appointed as the authorised representative and
compliance officer of the Company on 14 February 2014; Mr.
Yuan holds an associate degree in Heilongjiang Academy of
Finance and Management for Comrades (B3 /1% M & % &
T2 £7). He joined the Beijing Commercial Bank (1t 72 i 74 % 48
17) in 1993 and worked for 12 years. He left the position of
manager at the credit department of the Beijing Commercial Bank
in 2005. Mr. Yuan then engaged in the finance-related business
and has gained 20 years of experience in the financial and
banking sector. Mr. Yuan is mainly responsible for the strategy
formulation of the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Yuan did not hold any directorships
in any listed public company in the last three years.

Mr. Yang Jilin (“Mr. Yang”), aged 23, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 8 July 2014. Mr. Yang
obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial and systems
engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2014.
Mr. Yang does not hold any position with the Company and its
subsidiaries. On 15 September 2014, Mr. Yang has been
appointed as an executive director of Superb Summit
International Group Limited (stock code: 1228), whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Save as
disclosed herein, Mr. Yang did not hold any directorships in any
listed public company in the last three years.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Li Xiangjun (“Mr. Li”), aged 43, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company on 7 December 2012. Mr. Li
received a bachelor degree in law in the People’s Republic of
China in 1996. In 20083, he obtained the certificate of graduation
from the master degree program for international economic law
of the University of International Business and Economics in the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Li has been engaged in the legal
services industry since 1999. He is currently a practising lawyer
in the People’s Republic of China and a member of the Beijing
Lawyers Association. He used to be the Corporate Law
Consultant or Legal Consultant for Special Affairs for large state-
owned enterprises, including China FAW Group, Lenovo Group
and China Life Insurance Group, and large foreign enterprises,
including Asia Link Group Inc., Zhenglin Food Co., Ltd. and
Dongguan Hsu Chi Foods Co. Limited. From 22 September 2008
to 11 June 2009, Mr. Li was an executive director of the
Company. From 24 June 2010 to 22 October 2012, Mr. Li was
an independent non-executive director of Superb Summit
International Group Limited (stock code: 1228), whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Since 11
June 2009, Mr. Li has been a director of China E-Learning (Hong
Kong) Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Li did not hold any
position with the Company and its subsidiaries and he does not
hold any directorship in other listed companies nor has any other
major appointment or qualification in the last three years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESNEREEAERERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Qunsheng (“Mr. Li”), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee, member of the nomination committee and member
of the remuneration committee of the Company on 7 February
2014. Mr. Li was graduated from Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics in China in 1982 and is currently a certified public
accountant in China. From 1982 to 1993, Mr. Li served in the
Ministry of Finance, Investment Department of the National Audit
Office and the China Audit Administration. In 1993, he served
as vice president of BOT investment & Development Corporation
and was in charge of the financial affairs of the company as well
as the management of its subsidiaries. He was also involved in
planning the investments into high-grade highways and M&A
activities. Mr. Li left office in 1997, and then joined Golden Sino
(China Infrastructure) Development Holdings Limited as general
manager, responsible for project planning, negotiations, project
construction management, capital operation etc. In 1999, Mr.
Li joined Shenzhen Xiansheng Technology Development Co.,
Ltd. as chief executive officer, responsible for daily operation
and management of the company and capital operation of the
company. Mr. Li joined Ever Crown International (HK) Limited in
2002 upon its invitation and served as chief executive officer.
After that, Mr. Li joined Guangzhou Huan Long Expressway Co.,
Ltd. in 2009 as managing director, and has been responsible
for managing the Guangzhou City Nansha Port Expressway
project since then.

On 21 February 2014, Mr. Li has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Superb Summit
International Group Limited (stock code: 1228), whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Li did not hold any position with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor did he hold any
directorship or any other major appointment or qualification in
other listed companies in the last three years.
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Dr. Huang Chung Hsing (“Dr. Huang”), aged 61, was
appointed as an independent non-executive director and a
member of audit committee of the Company on 14 August 2008.
Dr. Huang holds a Ph.D. degree in Management Science and
Information Systems from the University of Texas at Austin,
U.S.A. and a Bachelor’s degree of Science in Electrical
Engineering from National Taiwan University. Dr. Huang is the
Associate Dean of College of Management, National Taiwan
University. He is also the chairman of the Committee of Service
Management of Chinese Management Association in Taiwan and
the associate researcher of Health Management Center of
National Taiwan University Hospital in Taiwan. He has previously
held senior positions in various universities and banks such as
Beijing University in China and Bank of SinoPac. Dr. Huang has
extensive experience in service operation management, business
decision making and management of innovation.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. Huang did not hold any other
position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor did he
hold any directorship in any public listed company in the last
three years.

Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy (“Ms. Li”), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, member of the audit
committee and member of the remuneration committee of the
Company on 19 November 2013. Ms. Li received her Bachelor
of Art and Bachelor of Finance in China. She started her first job
in Fuji Xerox Co. Ltd in Sydney in 1986 and assigned as the
branch manager of National Australia Bank in Taiwan in 1994,
Later in 2001, Ms. Li joined as director of Private Wealth
Management of Deutsche Bank in Sydney and assigned to Hong
Kong as director of Investment Banking Division of Deutsche
Bank AG in 2008. Ms. Li left Deutsche Bank AG in 2010 and
joined Nomura Securities, Investment Banking Division as
executive director. Ms. Li has been the director of Credit Suisse,
Hong Kong and China in the last 12 months. Ms. Li has over 15
years experience in corporate finance and IPO with excellent
relationship with senior government officials in China, Australia,
Taiwan, Cambodia and Burma.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Li did not hold any other position
in the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor did she hold any
directorship in any public listed company in the last three years.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
E-Learning Group Limited (the “Company”) presents herewith
the annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries
are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group'’s results for the year ended 31 December 2014 and
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at that
date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 47 to 156.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend
in respect of the reporting year (2013: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated results
of the Group for each of the five years ended 31 December
2014 prepared on the basis set out in the note below:
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2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
—E-mE —-=F —T-CF —T——F —2-%
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FiEx T T TEL
Revenue from continuing REBELEER
operations ZWA 47,474 47,066 41,783 40,140 38,575
Loss before tax from REBELLER
continuing operations LBHAES 47,417 22,551 15,213 32,266 52,079
Loss from discontinued operations B 24 |F K& ¥
BB - 63,531 - - -
Loss after tax BRR%ER 47,417 86,082 15,213 32,266 52,079
Total assets BERE 366,388 134,883 172,201 123,788 111,400
Total liabilities BEAS 54,001 228,731 195,040 138,502 163,282
D )
PROPERTY, PLANT AND M- BERRE
EQUIPMENT
Movements of property, plant and equipment are set out in note Y% - BB NERE 2 BB EH NGRS P ERRMFE19 -
19 to the consolidated financial statements.
SUBSIDIARIES B & 2 =]
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 20 RAFIM B AR ZFFIBE R E M B mER M 5120 ©

to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE
OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options during
the year are set out in notes 27 and 37 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of movements in the Company’s convertible notes during
the year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 53 and note 28 to the
consolidated financial statement respectively.
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Report of the Directors
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2014, the Company did not have any reserve
available for cash distribution (2013: Nil). In accordance with
the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles of
Association, the Company’s share premium account is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The
share premium may also be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2014.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE
OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year under review.

On 22 January 2015, the Company repurchased on the Stock
Exchange a total of 21,872,000 shares at a total consideration
of approximately HKD10,540,000. On 23 January 2015, the
Company repurchased on the Stock Exchange a total of
17,568,000 shares at a total consideration of approximately
HKD8,811,000. A total of 39,440,000 shares have been
cancelled on 9 February 2015.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

The Group and the Company did not have any management
services contract for the years ended 31 December 2014 and
2018.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting
to HK$251,000 (2013: HK$251,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND

—Z— 5% - ANNUAL REPORT 2014 @

BEEEHN
HE-F-—MER-F—=F+-A=+—AItF
B ARERARDEEETEANERRHAL -

=EiEN

FRAEEZEES
% 1 251,000/ 7C) ©

TEEFRAER

hY
ki

B R251,0008 T (ZE—=

SUPPLIERS
The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable AEEBZFERP REEFRFRMEEE RIRE
to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows: BoOLLWE -
2014 2013
—F-NmF —F—=

Revenue WA

— the largest customer - ZAEF n/a RAiEH n/a 1~ iE B

— five largest customer — AREF n/a ~iE A n/a i A
Cost of goods sold HEEm

and services provided RS Z KA

— the largest services provider — AR ERS 20% 21%

— five largest services providers — ARRBHER 40% 49%

Students are our major customers. It is therefore not applicable
to provide the largest and the five largest customers’
percentages on our revenue income.

None of the Directors, their associates or shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers
or service providers noted above.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Hong (resigned on 14 February 2014)
Mr. Yuan Wai
Mr. Yang Jilin (appointed on 8 July 2014)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Li Xiangjun
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Wai Tak (resigned on 7 February 2014)
Mr. Li Qunsheng (appointed on 7 February 2014)
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing

Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors the annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers
that all independent non-executive directors are independent
to the Group in accordance with the terms of the guidelines as
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Yang Jilin and Mr. Huang Chung Hsing will retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Yuan Wei, the executive director, has entered into service
contract with the Company for a term of three years. This service
contract may be terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ notice to the other party.
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Mr. Yang Jilin, the executive director, has entered into service
contract with the Company for a term of three years. This
contract may be terminated by either parties giving not less than
three month’s notice to the other party.

Mr. Li Xiangjun, the non-executive director has entered into
service contract with the Company for a term of three years.
This service contracts may be terminated by either parties giving
not less than three months’ notice to the other party.

Mr. Li Qunsheng, the independent non-executive director, has
entered into service contract with the Company for a term of two
years. This service contract may be terminated by either parties
giving not less than three months’ notice to the other party.

Mr. Huang Chung Hsing, the independent non-executive director,
has entered into service contract with the Company for a term of
two years. This service contract may be terminated by either
parties giving not less than three months’ notice to the other party.

Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy, the independent non-executive director,
has not been appointed for a fixed term of service.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid employees in the Group are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees, including its Directors,
based on their performance, experience and prevailing market
rate. Other employee benefits include insurance and medical
cover as well as share option scheme. Details of share option
scheme are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The determination of remuneration of the Directors of the
Company had taken into consideration of their expertise and
job specifications.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

A new share option scheme was approved and adopted in the
Annual General Meeting of the Company on 23 May 2011. On
10 July 2014, the Company granted 165,000,000 share options
(the “Options”) to individuals (the “Grantees”) under the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 23 May 2011.
Details of share option scheme are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND SHARE OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2014, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)), which were
required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO;
or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred therein; or (c) pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:
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Long positions

Number of shares or

underlying shares held Percentage
Fris R4 S E IR 10 B E of issued
Name of Directors Ordinary Share share capital
and Chief Executive Capacity shares options Total HE#T
EERFETHRAEBEE B ZER BB AE @t RAE DL
Yuan Wei (Director) Beneficial owner 20,000,000 - 20,000,000 0.62%
REE(EH) EREAA
Wang Hui (Chief Executive Beneficial owner - 6,377,306 6,377,306 0.20%
Officer)
FTEETHAEE) EnEAA
Li Xiangjun (Director) Beneficial owner 313,590 6,712,954 7,026,544 0.22%

FHE(ER) BEamlEA A

Note: Mr. Chen Hong was an executive director until his resignation
effect from 14 February 2014 as disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 14 February 2014.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, none of the
other Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interest or short position in shares, debentures or underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations which
was required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO;
or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred therein; or (c) pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests in shares and share options” above and
“Share option scheme” in note 37, at no time during the year
was the Group, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Group or
any other body corporate.

INTERESTS DISCLOSABLE UNDER
THE SFO AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2014, so far as known to any Directors or
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long position in shares or underlying shares
of the Company
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REQXTARGHEBRGD 2HFR

Number of shares Percentage

or underlying of issued

shares held share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity PR HE T
IR & B 56 HEROEE AT DL
Magic Stone Fund (China) Investment manager 211,552,000 6.58%

REKE
Yang Dong Jun (note 1, 2) Beneficial owner 42,352,000 1.32%
HBRE (1 - 2) EnEAA

Interest of a controlled 211,552,000 6.58%

corporation

NEEEE 7 s
Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited Investment manager 180,000,000 5.60%

REKE
Liu Yang (note 3) Interest of a controlled 180,000,000 5.60%

Bk (F5E3)

corporation
NS N

Notes: 1. Mr. Yang Dong Jun owned 80.25% of Magic Stone Fund

(China), a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
Accordingly, Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in
211,552,000 shares held by Magic Stone Fund (China).

2. Mr. Yang Dong Jun is the father of Mr. Yang Jilin, an executive
director of the Company.

3. According to the disclosure of interests notice filed, Ms. Liu
Yang is deemed to be in control of Atlantis Capital Holdings
Limited, Ms. Liu Yang is deemed to be interested in the
180,000,000 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons (other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year under review, neither the Directors nor the
substantial shareholders of the Company and their respective
associates had any interest in business that competes, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting period
are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS

During the year, Messrs. Parker Randall CF (H.K.) CPA Limited,
who acted as auditor of the Company for four years, resigned
and Messrs. McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited was appointed
as auditor of the Company.

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to
re-appoint Messrs. McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited as auditors

of the Company.

On Behalf of the Board

Yuan Wei
Executive Director

Hong Kong
26 March 2015
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Corporate Governance Report

TEERRE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and believes that good corporate
governance can (i) enhance management effectiveness and
efficiency; (ii) increase the transparency of the Company; (iii)
enhance risk management and internal control of the Company
and (iv) safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
COMPLIANCE

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange which sets out the principles of good corporate
governance, the provisions of the Code (the “Code Provisions”)
and the recommended best practices, the Company has applied
the principles and complied with all the Code Provisions as set
out in the Code during the year ended 31 December 2014, with
the exception of deviation set out below.

Under Code Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election
while all directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

During the year, the non-executive director and two independent
non-executive directors are appointed for a specific term of
service and one independent non-executive director is not
appointed for a specific term of service. Since each of the
independent non-executive directors is subject to rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company, as such, the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to serve
the purpose of the Code Provision A.4.1 of the Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group has adopted a code of
conduct regarding securities transactions in securities of the
Company by directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all
directors, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance
with the required standard as set out in the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the year
ended 31 December 2014.
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TEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
MEETING

Board Composition

The Board of Directors currently comprises two executive
directors, namely Mr. Yuan Wei and Mr. Yang Jilin, one non-
executive director, namely Mr. Li Xiangjun and three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Li Qunsheng, Dr. Huang
Chung Hsing, and Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy. The Board is responsible
for the overall management of the Group. It focuses on directing
the corporate strategies and supervising the business and
significant affairs of the Group while the duties of the daily
operation management are delegated to the management of
the Company. Biographical details of the Directors are set out
on pages 18 to 21 of this annual report.

During the year under review, Mr. Chen Hong was the chairman
and Ms. Wang Hui was the chief executive officer of the Company
respectively and their roles are clearly segregated, with a clear
division of their responsibilities complying Code Provision A.2.1
of the Code. Mr. Chen Hong was the chairman whose role is to
provide leadership for the Board and provide the Group with
strategic direction in consultation with the Board in a timely
manner to ensure effectiveness of the Board, whereas Ms. Wang
Hui, the chief executive officer, is responsible for the strategic
planning of its various business units, and day-to-day
management of its operation.

Mr. Chen Hong has resigned as chairman and executive director
of the Company with effect from 14 February 2014 and Mr. Yang
Jilin has been appointed as executive director with effect from 8
July 2014. Currently the Board of Directors comprises two
executive directors and the Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code is
not complied. But the Board believes that the Company already
has a strong corporate governance structure in place to ensure
effective oversight of management. The Board will continually
review the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance
structure to assess whether any changes are necessary.

Mr. Li Xiangjun was appointed as the non-executive directors of
the Company on 7 December 2012 for a period of three years
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company pursuant to the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and
GEM Listing Rules.
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Under Code Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election
while all directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Currently the non-executive director and two independent non-
executive directors are appointed for a specific term of service
and one independent non-executive director is not appointed
for a specific term of service. Since each of the independent
non-executive directors is subject to rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company, as such, the Company considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to serve the purpose
of the Code Provision A.4.1 of the Code.

Board and General Meetings

The Board meets regularly. During the year ended 31 December
2014, there were 38 board meetings and 4 general meetings
held to discuss the overall strategy, the operation and financial
performance of the Group, and to approve important matters
such as the annual results, quarterly results, interim results and
dividends, the Group’s businesses and investments, etc. The
attendance of each director at the board meetings and general
meetings are set out as follows:
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Attendance of Attendance of

Board Meeting General Meeting

ESEERlERS BRAGHERZE
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Chen Hong BRR A 2/38 0/4
(resigned on 14 February 2014) (RZE—mF = A+ HET)
Mr. Yuan Wei RERE 37/38 4/4
Mr. Yang Jilin BERTE 17/38 0/4
(appointed on 8 July 2014) (R—ZE—NE+ANBEZT)
Non-Executive Director FHTEE
Mr. Li Xiangjun FTHELE 28/38 0/4
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Cheung Wai Tak REZEE 0/38 0/4
(resigned on 7 February 2014) (RZE—NF=AtHET)
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing EEAEBLT 9/38 0/4
Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy Mt 1/38 0/4
Mr. Li Qunsheng FREEE 7/38 0/4

(appointed on 7 February 2014)

(R—ZE—mNE-F+AERE)
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The company secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes
of all board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes
are normally circulated to directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open
for directors’ inspection.

The executive directors and senior management meet regularly
to review company business matters and escalate the matters
to the board meeting for further discussion if necessary. The
Board and the Directors can seek independent professional
advice whenever necessary at the Company’s expenses.
Furthermore, they can have access to the company secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are
duly complied with and advising the Board on corporate
governance and compliance matters.

In accordance to the Board’s current practice and Code Provision
A.1.7 of the Code, any material transaction involving a conflict
of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director will be
considered and dealt with by the Board by a duly convened
Board meeting. It also requires the directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for
approving transactions in which such directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

In Compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company now has three independent non-
executive directors representing half of the Board with one of
them having appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. Currently it has
complied with the relevant Rules. Two independent non-
executive directors is appointed for a fixed term of service
whereas one independent non-executive director is not
appointed for a fixed term of service.

The Company has, through the nomination committee of the
Board, reviewed the independence of, and received an
appointment and annual confirmation of independence from,
each of the independent non-executive directors, and considers
all the independent non-executive directors independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Delegation to Board Committee and
Management

The Board has the overall responsibility for business
development, leadership, management and control of the Group
and is responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing, supervising and monitoring the Group’s affairs. It has
established three committees, namely the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee. All of the
committees have written terms of reference in accordance with
the Code. More details of these committees are set out in
separate sections of this report.

The Board delegates necessary powers and authorities to the
executive directors and chief executive officer (“CEQ”) to facilitate
the efficient day to day management of the Group’s business. In
addition, the Board delegates to the remuneration committee
authorities to determine remuneration for executive directors and
members of senior management.

Continuous Professional Development

All Directors should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business and activities
of the Group. Directors receive regular updates and
presentations on changes and developments to the Group’s
business and to environments in which the Group operates, as
well as their responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws,
rules and regulations to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices. Directors
are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.
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During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Directors BHE_ZE-—NMF+_A=T—RHLLFE F2FER
participated in the continuous professional developments in LUTHRAL2BEBREESTE 2 &FAME  EE 2B
relation to regulatory updates, the duties and responsibilities of BHEBERAEEER I HBESERETD

the Directors and the business of the Group in the following

manner:
Training received (Yes/No)
BRI (R/B)

Executive Directors BTEE
Mr. Chen Hong (resigned on 14 February 2014) BAREE(RZF—NF = A+ HAEE) Yes/2
Mr. Yuan Wel REXAE Yesi&
Mr. Yang Jilin (appointed on 8 July 2014) BERLE(R_Z—NELANBEZT) Yes
Non-Executive Director FHTEE
Mr. Li Xiangjun FRELEE Yesrz
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUFHTES
Mr. Cheung Wai Tak (resigned on 7 February 2014) REBLE(R-_T—NFE-_ALHED Yes2
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing BEREEL Yes®
Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy FHMAT Yesi&
Mr. Li Qunsheng (appointed on 7 February 2014) ZHELE (RS- NF-_A-HEZT) Yes2
Training received included: BEREIIRRE -
A attending internal/external briefing/seminar session in A 2MEBEEERANRI NGRS

relation to corporate governance; or B
B reading materials in relation to regulatory update B BB B R EE MR
BOARD COMMITTEES EEZ8E
Audit Committee BEREE®
The Company has established an audit committee on 26 ARBEETRAER EMRUAR=_ZFZE—F+—H
November 2001 with written terms of reference for the purpose TRV EZEZEY  UHIFIEEBERE
of reviewing and supervising the Company’s financial reporting BERIREEARA 2 RR R ANIPEEIERE
and internal control procedures in compliance with the GEM JroZBRBRR=FBIIIFNTEETTHELEE (R
Listing Rules. The committee currently comprises three TE-MF_ALHEZTAZTEGXF) ERE

independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Li Qunsheng B RPN L -
(the chairman of the committee who was appointed on 7
February 2014), Dr. Huang Chung Hsing and Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy.




The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and to
provide supervision over the financial reporting process and
internal control system of the Group, to review the audit plan,
audit findings and independence of the auditors of the Company,
to review the Group’s financial information and financial
statements, annual reports, interim reports and quarterly reports,
and to provide advice and recommendation thereon to the
Board.

The Board also delegated certain corporate governance
functions to the audit committee, including the review and
monitoring of (a) the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board; (b) the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management; (c) the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) the
code of conduct of the Group applicable to employees and
Directors; and (e) the Group’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the audit committee
held 5 meetings to approve the nature and scope of the statutory
audits, and review the annual, interim, quarterly consolidated
financial statements of the Group, and details of the attendance
of each member of the committee are set out as follows:
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Committee Members Attendance
EVEEENE H %
Mr. Cheung Wai Tak (resigned on 7 February 2014) KEEAE(RZT—NF-A+HET) 0/5
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing EREEBLT 4/5
Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy &SR 2/5
Mr. Li Qunsheng (appointed on 7 February 2014) FHELE(RZZ—NF_A+HEZE) 4/5
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The minutes of the audit committee meetings are kept by the
company secretary. The draft and final versions of the minutes
are circulated to all committee members for their comments and
records within a reasonable time after each meeting.

The Board has not taken any different view from that of the audit
committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

The Company’s annual audited results for the year ended 31
December 2014 have been reviewed by the audit committee.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee was established on 23 March 2005
with major functions of (i) making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policies and structure for the remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Group; (i) determining
the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior
management of the Group; and (iii) reviewing and approving the
performance-based remuneration. The remuneration
committee’s terms of reference are generally aligned with the
requirement of Code Provision B.1.2.

The remuneration committee of the Company is currently chaired
by Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 14 February 2014). Other
members include Mr. Li Qunsheng (appointed on 7 February
2014) and Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy . The majority of the members of
the remuneration committee are independent non-executive
directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, two meetings of the
remuneration committee were held. Majority of the members of
the remuneration committee, at the time being, attended the
meetings. The Company’s policy for the remuneration of
Directors and senior management was discussed in the meeting
and no changes on the policy were recommended by the
remuneration

committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the nomination committee on 23
March 2012 with major functions of (i) to review the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; and (iii) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors,
in particular the chairman of the Board and the CEO.

The nomination committee of the Company is currently chaired
by Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 14 February 2014). Other
members include Mr. Li Qunsheng (appointed on 7 February
2014) and Dr. Huang Chung Hsing. The majority of the members
of the nomination committee are independent non-executive
directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, two meetings of the
nomination committee were held. All members of the nomination
committee, at the time being, attended the meetings to perform
the aforesaid functions.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the audit service provided by the auditor of
the Group to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014
was mutually agreed in view of the scope of services, amounting
to HK$450,000.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the establishment and
maintenance of an adequate and effective internal control system
to safeguard the Group’ assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, and to protect the interests of shareholders of the
Company (collectively “internal controls”).

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company has
conducted a review, which covered the major control procedures
in areas of financial and operations of the Company on the
internal control system of the Group and was satisfied with the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control procedures.

BUSINESS ETHICS AND PROFESSIONAL
CODE OF CONDUCTS

The Group puts high standards on business ethics and
professional conducts expected of all employees. Employees
are briefed regularly on the code of ethics and on the conducts
of keeping confidentiality of the information of business partners
and the Group. Briefings on the code of ethics and on the
conducts are held for new employees during orientation
sessions.

The Group also adopts good employment standards of
non- discrimination policy and fair compensation scheme.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The responsibilities of the Directors for preparing the financial
statements and the auditor’s reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements are set out in the auditor’s report contained
in this annual report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Articles 58 of the Articles of Association, an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) may be convened by the
Board on a written requisition of any one or more shareholders
of the Company holding not less than 10% of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meeting
of the Company. The EGM shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene the EGM, the
requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) of the
Company.

Enquiries put to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect
of their rights to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong for the attention of the company secretary.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

There is no provision for shareholders to propose resolutions at
a general meeting under the Cayman Islands Companies Law.
However, shareholders can follow the above procedure and
request to convene an EGM.

Procedures for nominating a new director

(i) If a shareholder wish to propose a person (the
“Candidate”) for election as a director of the Company
at a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a notice at the
Company’s head office at Unit 2610, 26th Floor, Office
Tower, Convention Plaza, No. 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong (Attention to the Board of Directors and the
company secretary) or the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong;
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(if) The notice must (i) include the personal information of
the Candidate as required by Rule 17.50 (2) of the GEM
Listing Rules; and (ii) be signed by the shareholder
concerned and signed also by the Candidate indicating
his/her willingness to be elected and consent of
publication of his/her personal information;

(iif) Where the notice is submitted after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election,
the period for lodgment of the notice shall commence
on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting and no later than seven days prior to the date of
such general meeting. In any case, the minimum length
of the period during which any notice to be given shall
be at least seven days;

(iv) In order to allow the shareholders sufficient time to receive
and consider the proposal of election of the Candidate
as a director of the Company, shareholders are
encouraged to submit and lodge the notice as early as
practicable.

Articles of Association

There was no change to the Articles of Association to the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2014.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company establishes different communication channels with
investors to update the latest business development and financial
performance including the publication of quarterly, interim and
annual reports, the publish and posting of notices,
announcements and circulars on the GEM website and the
Company’s website in a timely manner in order to maintain a
high level of transparency, and to ensure there is no selective
disclosure of inside information.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BB E

To the shareholders of
China E-Learning Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
E-Learning Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 47 to 156, which
comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial
position as at 31 December 2014, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2014, and of the Group’s loss and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Seto Man Fai
Practising Certificate No.: P05229

Hong Kong
26 March 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income

GeEakAMEZEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HEZ —F—MF+-_A=+—HILFE

2014 2013
—E-0mF —T—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ix=2 FBT T
Continuing operations BEREEK
Revenue &= 7 47,474 47,066
Cost of goods sold and SHE Hm IR RS
services provided el %N (27,680) (25,098)
Gross profit ER 19,794 21,968
Other income H Ao Y &1 8 3,839 667
Administrative expenses THRAX 11 (33,143) (34,917)
Other expenses Hippg ¥ 9 (251) (462)
Finance costs, net BhE R A FRR 10 (10,292) (9,807)
Incremental consideration resulted & A # i Z2 5 #A A%
from adjustment to conversion BEA ZRELN
price of convertible notes 30 (27,364) -
Loss before tax BRELAE 1B (47,417) (22,551)
Income tax A ® 13 - -
Loss for the year from XEEREFE
continuing operations REEBK 2B 11 (47,417) (22,551)
Discontinued operations EARIEREEK 14
Loss for the year from AEERBBEKRIE
discontinued operations LEERE 7 B8 - (63,531)
Loss for the year NELEE (47,417) (86,082)
(Loss)/Profit for the year DTATEGAERFE
attributable to: (&18) &F -
Owners of the Company FiN/NEIEEFEWN (56,872) (96,449)
Non-controlling interests IEIZE AR M 9,455 10,367
(47,417) (86,082)
Loss per share BREE 17
From continuing and REFEMRE KL
discontinued operations K HTE
- Basic — &K (2.76 cents 1lli) (6.53 cents fill)
— Diluted —#E N/A 7FiE N/A 7@ A
From continuing operations REFELEET
- Basic — &K (2.76 cents 1lli) (2.23 cents filI)
— Diluted —HE N/A R EH N/A 7~ F
From discontinued operation KB ETE
- Basic —EK N/A FEMA  (4.30 cents )

— Diluted —88 N/A ~iE A N/A 7~ B
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GeEakAMZE KRS

1R

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #Z — T —UF+ - A=+ —HILFE

2014 2013
—E-—NF —E—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ix=2 FBT FHETT
Loss for the year RFEEEE (47,417) (86,082)
Other comprehensive (expense) income Hip2m (%EJSE)
Items that may be reclassified HE s 71
subsequently to profit or loss: Bz hyIEE -
Reclassification adjustment relating to HERNHETHRDE
available-for-sale financial assets TREEBR
disposed of during the year MEN DB - 393
Exchange differences on translating MEBINETESE
foreign operations 2B H ZEE
Exchange difference arising during the year FANEEZERZRE (1,387) 1,489
Reclassification adjustments relating to ELF R EIRINETS
foreign operations disposed during the year BN ENRDEARE 531 -
Other comprehensive (expense) income, Htr2m BX) Wz
net of income tax (MBRFTB5H) (856) 1,882
Total comprehensive expense for the year AFEZ2HEFZHAE (48,273) (84,200)
Total comprehensive (expense) income D&T/\iffﬁ$¢fé
for the year attributable to: 2w (X)) Wames
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIESF SN (57,551) (95,228)
Non-controlling interests FEIE RS 9,278 11,028
(48,273) (84,200)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e TR TR

As at 31 December 2014 R =Z—WMF+—-_A=+—H
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2014 2013
=F-mF —ET=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
P 5 FET FET
Assets and liabilities BEEREE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Goodwill EES 18 - -
Property, plant and equipment Y - WREMERE 19 7,090 1,165
7,090 1,165
Current assets RBEE
Inventories GE 22 24 11
Other receivables A U AR 3R 23 172,362 89,126
Cash and cash equivalents RekHeEBEEE 24 187,412 15,101
359,798 104,238
Assets classified as held for sale DERFELEEE 15 - 29,480
359,798 133,718
Total assets BEHAE 366,888 134,883
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A ER IR 25 44,611 48,168
Financial derivatives ERITETE 30 8 500
Other borrowings H g3 29 - 35,483
Convertible notes Al MR =% 30 9,382 52,952
54,001 137,103
Liabilities directly associated with HAYBARHELE
assets classified as held for sale BEEZRB ARG 15 - 59
54,001 137,162
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE(BE) FH 305,797 (3,444)
Total assets less current liabilites ZEABERAEBEE 312,887 (2,279)
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Other borrowing H A AR 29 - 31,304
Convertible notes AIRAR R & 30 - 60,265
- 91,569
Total liabilities EERE 54,001 228,731
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BE) FE 312,887 (93,848)
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e TR TR

As at 31 December 2014 R =Z—WMF+—-_A=+—H

2014 2013
—E-ImfF ==

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
hx=3 FET FHETT

Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital f& A 27 321,427 161,422
Reserves & (14,884) (261,026)
Non-controlling interests FE T2 I e 6,344 5,756
Total equity HER 312,887 (93,848)

The consolidated financial statement on pages 47 to 156 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
26 March 2015 and are signed on it behalf by:

Yuan Wei
=E
Director

EFE

FATEEF16ENG AV EREN _E—AF=A
TtHARBEEESHEREETE WA THIES
REHZEE

Yang Jilin
BER
Director

EF




Statement of Financial Position
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2014 2013
—E—-NF —E—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
P 5 FET FET
Assets and liabilities BEEREE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - WENMEE 19 85 620
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR ZEE 20 = -
85 620
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H i E I BR FX 23 97,099 591
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE LB B 2 R FRIE 20 133,914 140,168
Cash and cash equivalents RehkBeEBEER 24 174,374 822
Assets classified as held for sale NEAFBELEERE 15 - 29,952
405,387 171,533
Total assets EERE 405,472 172,153
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables g5 REMENIRRK 25 7,789 5,356
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAST BT /B R B3k I8 20 160 160
Financial derivative SHITETER 30 8 500
Other borrowings H A AR 29 - 35,483
Convertible notes Al R % 30 9,382 52,952
17,339 94,451
Net current assets REBEETRHE 388,048 77,082
Total assets less current liabilites ZEZBRAEBEE 388,133 77,702
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Other borrowing H &R 29 - 31,304
Convertible notes Al =% 30 - 60,265
- 91,569
Total liabilities EERE 17,339 186,020
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BE) BE 388,133 (13,867)
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2014 20183
—E-0OF —ET—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt & THET THTT
Capital and reserves BARGFE
Share capital A& A 27 321,427 161,422
Reserves & 28 66,706 (175,289)
Total equity R 388,133 (13,867)
Yuan Wei Yang Jilin
=g BER
Director Director
EFE )
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREHR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HEZ —F—MF+-_A=+—HILFE

/ Available- \
for-sale
Convertible  financial
Share-based  Exchange notes assets  PRC staff Non-
Share Share  payment fluctuation equity  valuation award fund Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

TEE  PHAT

WRxff  ERR® TARRE tREE KRES
Bx  RtER e B BEEE  (EER B RHER ait FERER  REer
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000 ~ HKS000 ~ HKS00  HKB'OOD  HKS000  HKE'000  HKS000  HKS000
TET  TET  TEm  TEn  TEr TRz  TEr  TER  TEn  TEn  TER

(Note 27)  (Note 28)  (Note 37) (Note 30)
\_ (wstor)  (Wos)  (WE8D) (BzEs0) )
1 January 2013 HIE-ZE
-F-H 735,939 176,650 14,494 11,150 17,116 (393) - (981,563) (26,607) 3,768 (22,839)
(Loss) proft for the year TEE (FE) &7 - - - - - - - (96449)  (96449) 10367 (86,082
Other comprehensive income TEEENZE
for the year ey - - - 828 - 398 - - 1,221 061 1,882
Total comprehensive income REERENE
(expense] for the year ()48 - - - 828 - 393 - (96,449) (95,228) 11,028 (84,200
Dividends paid to non-controling mEERER N
interest bl %) - - - - - - - - - (9,040) (9,040)
Issue of convertble notes EITRAREE - - - - 78 - - - 78 - 73
Issue of employee share option BEERRE - - 6,004 - - - - - 6,204 - 6,204
Issue of shares by conversion RUAREEEES
of convertible notes ES 14,234 - - - - - - - 14,284 - 14,234
Redemption of convertible notes EOORRER - - - - (905) - - 209 (696) - (696)
Transfer of share option reserve RRRERESER
upon the forfeiture of share option BRERE - - (1519) - - - - 1519 - - -
Transfer to discontinued operations Texk - - - (403) - - - 403 - - -
Transfer to PRC staff award fund reserve 1B
2oBE - - - - - - 2,396 - 2,396 - 2,396
Capital Reorganisation RAEd (588,751)  (176,650) - - - - - 765401 - - -
At 31 December 2013 RZZ-Z%
TZAZ+-H 161,422 - 19,199 11,575 16,284 - 2,396 (310,480) (99,604) 5,756 (93,848)
(Loss) proft for the year TEE (FE) &7 - - - - - - - (56872 (56,872 9455 (47,417
Other comprehensive income AEEENZE
forthe year s - - - (679 - - - - 69 (m (85)
Total comprehensive income REERENE
(expense) for the year (F%) a8 - - - (679) - - - (56872  (57,551) 9218 (48,213)
Dividends paid to non-controling mEERER N
interest L8 - - - - - - - - - (8,690) (8,690)
Issue of convertible notes RIATARER - - - - 10,717 - - - 10,717 - 10,717
Issue of employee share option BEEERE - - 5,730 - - - - - 5,730 - 5,730
Issue of shares by conversion RUAREEEES
of convertble notes RS 88,005 91,633 - - (42,222) - - - 137,416 - 137,416
Issue of shares by exercised REREER
of share option &R 25,500 18,873 (10,509) - - - - - 33,864 - 33,864
Redemption of convertible notes BEOTARES - - - - (5,999) - - 5,999 - - -
Transfer to PRC staff award fund resenve  EZHEE T8
EoRE - - - - - - 2,046 - 2,046 - 2,046
Placing of new shares REHNRR 46500 204,135 - - - - - - 250,635 - 250,635
Transaction costs attributable BORRAES
to issue of new shares LRGHE - (4,074) - - - - - - (4,074) - (4,074)
Incremental consideration resulted FEUARER
from adjustment to conversion price ~ EIREEE
of convertible notes ZREEM - - - - 27,364 - - - 27,364 - 27,364
At 31 December 2014 RIB-ME
tZA=1-H 321,421 310,567 14,420 10,896 6,144 - 4,442 (361,353) 306,543 6,344 312,887
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HEZ —F—MF+-_A=+—HILFE

2014 2013
—E—NF —F—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
s FHExT FHET
Cash flow from operating activities EEEKEE 2 HERE
Loss before tax BRELRIEE
From continuing operations REFELEER (47,417) (22,551)
From discontinued operations REEKRIEREER - (63,531)
Adjustments for: AR IB 2 A%
Finance cost, net b E AN FRE 10,292 9,807
Depreciation e 1,282 1,689
Interest income FEHBA (1,929) (43)
Equity-settled share-based payments LA HE 45 & 2 DAY 2 1~ F00E 5,730 6,224
Loss on disposal of available-for-sales H € B it HH & 4 @t & &
financial assets ol = = 2
Loss on redemption of fEE ;AR IR
convertible notes ol o - 209
Gain on disposal of property, LEWE - WE
plant and equipment P L & (19) (241)
Impairment losses on trade and 5 kE A EWIRR
other receivables FEEE - 11,116
Impairment losses on goodwill HEREEE - 56,008
Impairment gain recognized in LIS RIARER
respect of payables FOPERIER & - -
PRC staff award fund FEETHRBES 2,046 2,396
Incremental consideration resulted  F# A # AR = 1E
from adjustment to conversion MR EELE
price of convertible notes Z R EEM 27,364 -
Operating cash flows before EELESEBAIREEK
movements in working capital ZEERE (2,651) 1,085
Increase in inventories T E N (13) (11)
Increase in trade and B 5 kE A EWIRR
other receivables b Bl (25,152) (23,868)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and B 5 R H A ER BRI
other payables R4 /18 m (3,147) 17,277
(Decrease)/Increase in borrowings &3 GAid) /1810 (22,052) 29,759
Cash (used in) generated wEER (TR B8R $
from operations (53,015) 24,242
Overseas taxes paid BAEINRIE - -
Net cash (used in) generated REEK (A FRBRSFE
from operating activities (563,015) 24,242
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2014 2013
—E-—NF —E—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
ix=2 FExT FHETT
Cash flow from investing activities RETFBHEE2RERE
Net cash inflow on disposal of HEWBEADQ A
subsidiaries ZHRERAFR 12,519 -
Payment of property, T - BB LEE
plant and equipment S 2 IR (7,240) (1,287)
Proceed from disposal of property, HEME - BE R XE
plant and equipment ZFT1S R 36 304
Proceed from available-for-sale At EemEE
financial assets Z FTiSRI8 - 247
Interest received B UH B 1,929 43
Dividends paid to non-controlling m—EHBARZ
interest of a subsidiary JEEREE KRB (8,690) (9,040)
Deposit for establishment of PR B R S — T
a new subsidiary in PRC WEB AR zi&ke (54,500) -
Net cash used in investing RETEBHA
activities ReFH (55,946) (9,733)
Financing activities MEETH
Proceeds from issue of shares BT FTIS IR 250,635 -
Share issue expenses paid BB HETRAY (4,074) -
Redemption of convertible notes JEE AT AR iR (10,774) (9,712
Transaction cost for issue BT R I8
of convertible notes 2RI (857) -
Exercised of share option 1T B AR 33,864 -
Net cash generated from MEEH S (FTA)
(used in) financing activities REeFE 268,794 (9,712
Net increase in cash HeRhBES2EEER
and cash equivalents ZEhNF AR 159,833 4,797
Cash and cash equivalents FUZReRRESEHEER
at the beginning of the year 28,950 22,309
Effect of foreign exchange ERFE s TE
rate changes (1,371) 1,844
Cash and cash equivalents FRZ2ESRRESEHEER 24
at the end of the year 187,412 28,950
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1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China E-Learning Group Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands on 10 July 2001. The
shares of the Company are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the section
of “Corporate Information” in the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. BRI REEBEME
REVISED HONG KONG WEEA ((FEMBREE

S
—_
| I
~—r

FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following new and revised RAFEE  ASEEXERANTHESZ
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified A 235 REIEFT B AN B WESE
Public Accountants for the first time in the current year. 81 o
Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities BRI BRELA REEHE

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 £105% - BAMBRE

HERE125 ]
EREHERSTR

PACTIES
Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and B ER EHEHMEER SR
Financial Liabilities F325 2 EFT A &fE
Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures BEAGE R F36% FeMEE 2
for Non-Financial Assets ZIBETAR SHEEE
Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivates and BAGHERNFER TETAECERER
Continuation of Hedge pACTIES gz BE
Accounting
HK (IFRIC) - Int 21 Levies FE (BRMBHRERE HE
ZE8g) — RBE2AR
The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the RAFEREAN RIS BBV BRE%E
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s AN AR ERERFEE BT FE 2 HBE
financial performance and positions for the current and BRI R, xS e B RRATE =
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these HEREREE -

consolidated financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

3.

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 14

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKFRS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 27
Amendments to HKAS 10
and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial Instruments!

Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?®

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations®

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation®

Agriculture: Bearer Plants®

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions*

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements®

Sale or contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle®

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle*

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements
beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with earlier

application permitted.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017, with earlier application permitted.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2014, with earlier application permitted.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July

2014, with limited exceptions. Earlier application is

permitted.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of the above

new standards, amendments and interpretations to

existing standards will not result in a significant impact

on the results and financial position of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
certain financial assets which have been measured at
fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2014. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period
as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intre-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstance indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries below.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

4.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee:

(b) Rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(€) The Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale in accordance with
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combination and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer
measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of HKAS
39 is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
either recognised in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration
is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

4.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combination and goodwiill
(Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquire over the net identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combination and goodwiill
(Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell and
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place wither in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient date are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified
as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only
when the asset (or disposal group) is available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to
terms that are usual and customary for sales of such
asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale
(Continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the criteria described above are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in
its former subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment,
in an associate or joint venture, the investment or the
portion of the investment that will be disposed of is
classified as held for sale when the criteria described
above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of
the equity method in relation to the portion that is
classified as held for sale from the time when the
investment (or a portion of the investment) is classified
as held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in
an associate or a joint venture that has not been classified
as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the
equity method. The Group discontinues the use of the
equity method at the time of disposal when the disposal
results in the Group losing significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture.

After the disposal takes place, the Group accounts for
any retained interest in the associate or joint venture in
accordance with HKAS 39 unless the retained interest
continues to be an associate or a joint venture, in which
case the Group uses the equity method (see the
accounting policy regarding investments in associates
or joint ventures above).

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous
carrying amount and fiar value less costs to sell.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or supply of goods and services, or for
administrative purpose are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:
Leasehold improvements  The shorter of the lease
terms or 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 20%
office equipment
Motor vehicles 20%

4.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
trade and other receivables, inventories and financial
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.

Financial asset
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group within the scope of HKAS
39 are classified as loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. The Group
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
financial assets not at fair value through profit or not,
directly attributable transaction costs.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial asset (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and cash
and cash equivalents.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in interest income in the profit or
loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in
the profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial asset (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity and debt
securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for
trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss.
Debt securities in this category are those which are
intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive
income in the available-for-sale assets valuation reserve
until the assets is derecognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to
be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is
recognised in the profit or loss in other operating
expenses and removed from the available-for-sale
investment valuation reserve. Interest and dividends
earned are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively and are recognised in the profit or
loss as other income in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for
that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
securities are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial asset (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets
whether the ability and intention to sell them in the near
term are still appropriate. When the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to do so significantly changes in
the foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets in rare circumstances.
Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted
when the financial assets meet the definition of loans and
receivables and the Group has the intent and ability to
hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is
permitted only when the entity has the ability and intent
to hold until the maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-
sale category, any previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss over the remaining life of the investment using
the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new
amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in
equity is reclassified to the profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when (i) the rights to receive cash flows
from the asset have expired; or (ii) the Group has
transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset
or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in
the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial
asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

Available-for-sale financial assets

For available-for-sale financial assets, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is
objective evidence that an investment or a group of
investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an
amount comprising the difference between its cost (net
of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current
fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in the profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked
to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted
equity instrument, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are
not reversed.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-
out basis and comprises, comprises costs of purchase
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivates designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value,
in case of loans and borrowing, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, financial derivative, other borrowings and
convertible notes.

Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term.
This category includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined
by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
profit or loss does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the
date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS
39 are satisfied.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate method amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the profit or loss.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain
the liability, conversion option and early redemption option
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, both the liability and early redemption
option components are measured at fair value. The
difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of
the convertible notes and the fair value assigned to the
liability and early redemption option components
respectively, representing the conversion option for the
holder to convert the loan notes into equity, is included
in equity (convertible notes equity reserve).
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Convertible notes (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The early redemption option is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the profit or loss.

The equity component, representing the option to convert
the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible notes equity reserve
until the embedded conversion option is exercised (in
which case the balance stated in convertible notes equity
reserve will be transferred to share premium). Where the
conversion option remains unexercised at the expiry date,
the balance stated in convertible notes equity reserve
will be released to retained profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in the profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability, equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to
the liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability component and amortised over
the period of the convertible notes using the effective
interest method.

When the conversion price is reduced (except for an anti-
dilutive adjustment), the incremental consideration which
represents the value of additional shares to be converted
under the reduced conversion price is recognised in the
profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to other
reserve. The amount of incremental consideration is
transferred to share premium at the time the conversion
price is reduced.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation.
Provisions are measured at the best estimate of
consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligations, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flow (where the effect is
material).
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CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED - FEI@KZBELEBERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —Z—ME+ - A=+—HItFE
(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

FESFTHEEX ®
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Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the

economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the

revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i)

(i)

Tuition revenue from educational programs is
recognised on a time-proportion basis, using the
straight-line method, over the duration of the
relevant educational programs.

Revenue from sales of educational materials and
products is recognised when the products are
delivered and title has passed to customers.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

(i)

Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

The obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement scheme are recognised as
an expense in the profit or loss as incurred. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independent
administered fund.

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service payments are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision will be made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service payments as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
or paternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

Share-based payments

The Group operates equity-settled share-based
compensation scheme (“Scheme”) to remunerate
its employees.

For share options granted under the Scheme, the
fair value of the employees’ services rendered in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense immediately and credited to the
share-based payment reserve under equity. Where
the employees are required to meet vesting
conditions before they become entitled to the
options, the Group recognises the fair value of
the options granted over the vesting periods. At
the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to become exercisable. It recognises
the impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, in the profit or loss, and a corresponding
adjustment to the share-based payment reserve.

Upon exercise of the share options, the resulting
shares issued are recorded by the Company as
additional share capital at the nominal value of
the shares, and the excess of the exercise price
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded
by the Company in the share premium account.
The equity amount is recognised in the share—
based payment reserve until the option is
exercised when it is transferred to the share
premium account. If the options lapse
unexercised, the related share-based payment
reserve is transferred directly to retained profits.
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CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED - FEI@KZBELEBERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZ —F—MF+-_A=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal
title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception
of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase
and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and
equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
finance costs of such leases are charged to the profit or
loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge
over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where
the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to the profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included in
finance costs in the profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

4.

—Z— 5% - ANNUAL REPORT 2014

FESFTHEEX ®

BERA

PIBEEERATREESL Z RN BEHER
Wit ARERA -

Fri&®t

PSR B RAV A MR TR IR - ERNE e IME
RZBBBEBZAEHRNERI  £E MR
E s S RN R

AEE B E MR B IAEEN AR
IR A RS R R KA RSN 2
SHERENHRENRERMXNER LERM
ZRE(RBUXR) - AFt RAKE K& TR
REMCRBEREMNGNE -

BELERBDIRBEREE  ARHREHRRZE
ERABEZAREENZEHB AP BHR
ZEREZHEEREZRFELREE -

— R B W R R
8 -

RIEIET T B

. EBAFAINZ R HTN LR ZE
By EERBBEMEL AR 5K
Y HAEFEEENNERTBR L
EXEHBRERI - &

. SERMEBAR  BEARREER
AIZBRERBcERHERZEM
B AR O =R 2 A R] AR
REREZEA T AR R 25
el R S




CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED - FEI@KZBELEBERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —Z—ME+ - A=+—HItFE
(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. All
differences are taken to the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
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(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period and their
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flow, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, the Group; (ii) has
an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or (i) has joint control
over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);

() the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

(9) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group, or of
any entity that is a related party of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATIONS

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgments,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATIONS

(Continued)
Judgments (Continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account their estimated residual value. The
Company assesses annually the residual value and the
useful lives of the property, plant and equipment and if
the expectation differs from the original estimates, such
differences from the original estimates will affect the
depreciation charges in the year in which the estimates
change.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables

Management regularly reviews the recoverability and age
of the trade and other receivables. Appropriate
impairment for estimated irrecoverable amounts is
recognised in the profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATIONS

(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables
(Continued)

In determining whether impairment on trade and other
receivables is required, the Company takes into
consideration the current creditworthiness, the past
collection history, age status and likelihood of collection.
Specific allowance is only made for receivables that are
unlikely to be collected and is recognised on the
difference between the estimated future cash flow
expected to receive of which discounted by using the
original effective interest rate and its carrying value. If
the financial conditions of customers of the Company
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional impairment may be
required.

Valuation of share options granted

The fair value of share options granted was calculated
using the Black-Scholes valuation model/Trinomial Option
Pricing Model which requires the management’s
estimates and assumptions on significant calculation
inputs, including the estimated life of share options
granted, the volatility of share price and expected
dividend yield. Change in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATIONS

(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment loss of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill needs impairment requires
an estimation of the value is use of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flow is less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2014, the carrying amount of goodwill
is nil (2013: Nil).

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Business segments

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order
to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its
performance.

The Group is currently having one continuing operating
segment on a single business in a single geographical
location, which is the provision of an internet platform
for the facilitation of education program in Chinese
medicine and other advisory and training programs in
the PRC, and all the assets are substantially located in
the PRC. Accordingly, there is only one single reportable
segment of the Group which is regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker.

Information about a major customer

No transactions with a single external customer amount
to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the years
ended 31 December 2014 and 2013.

5.

AR HE R @

HEr THBEZE @
TR (A 18

ErTRECORERERRHE B E L
ReEL BN EREBEELG - SEE
RAEERERAMTRARKKRERSES
BUuzReREMERTRRUGERE -
HERARRESREREHLD  EGELS
RMERFE -

R-ZE—NE+-A=+—8 BE7EH@
BEAE(ZZE—=F: %)

RETHEHR

RBEDE

REDBABRBANSBH AR D RE R
SEREEETHE  REDEHATIRE
EARREZER  UWEHEBIEETERD
FLRFHEERR -

AXRSEERNE —EES —ERELE
EBom  ETTE X% AIRHBERER
HEBBETEAREPEHERA REMHE
AREIER - MEMBEEEAR LURS
CMAEERBE-RENE ATERE
BERRETHEMR °

FEFEFZEHR

REBEE-_ZE-NER-_F—=F+-_A=+
—HIEFE BEEINERFZR58EMG
AKEBIA10%BL A £ ©




—Z— 5% - ANNUAL REPORT 2014

REVENUE 7. WA
Continuing operations BFEKEEK
An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the years is as REBREAZEEBITAT -
follows:
2014 2013
—2-HmF —F—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Tuition fee revenue HERE WA 47,474 47,066
47,474 47,066
OTHER INCOME 8. HWA
Continuing operations FEREER
2014 2013
—E-0OF —ET—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FEIT
Gain on disposal of property, HEME BWEK
plant and equipment By € 19 241
Interest income F B A 1,929 43
Sundry income MIEMA 1,891 383
3,839 667
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(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)

9. OTHER EXPENSES 9. HBx
Continuing operations BFEKEXEK
2014 2013
=2-mF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT T
Donations B 251 251
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale PEAHEESREE 2 EE
financial assets - 2
Loss on redemption of convertible notes ERBmRERE . B8 - 209
251 462
10. FINANCE COSTS, NET 10. L&A FEE
Continuing operations HEREER
2014 2013
=2-mF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT T
Interest expenses on financial liabilities BHENATECSREE
measured at amortised cost ZHERX 7,292 12,029
Fair value changes on financial derivative SRITETAEZ A FEES - (2,222)
Compensation for non-cash settlement TRAEIFERCEEME
on financial liabilities 3,000 -
10,292 9,807




11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
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N A FEEREFELEXK 2
BiE

2014 2013
—F-WmF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FHET
Loss before tax has been arrived at after B AT S B E 1k
charging: T5%E
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) B B AN (B FFEEM L)
— basic salaries and allowances — BEARF® MR 9,435 9,988
— contributions to defined contribution plans ~ — FE &AMt KT El 2 % 712 873
— Other — Hfb 1,000 31
— Equity-settled share-based payments — L E
Z LARR 2T 518 1,259 1,888
Total staff costs B B 12,406 12,780
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEEB S
— Audit service — ZERT 487 425
Legal and professional fee FRENEEXER 7,229 5,617
Depreciation of property, W - BEMEETE
plant and equipment 1,282 1,689
Payments under operating lease for THREFLLERLY
land and buildings H IR 2,383 3,325
Equity-settled share-based payments ARG 8 2 AR S 5108 5,730 6,224
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 &= —%
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

—OET-—A=t-HLEE

12. EEREEM=

EMOLUMENTS
a. Directors’ emoluments a. EEMe
Salaries, Equity- Payments for
allowances settled termination of
and benefits  Retirement share-based Performance  service of
in kind scheme  payments related directors
Fees ¥& 2% contributions NRELEZ  bonuses RLEZRHE Total
e RENAE BEGAMT NRIATE RBEBEL PAE h)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn Tin TiEn TiEn Tin
For the year ended BE-E-ME

31 December 2014 TZR=T-HLEE
Executive Directors HTEES
Mr. Chen Hong (note | RAERE (Wit - 17 - - 1,000 1,117
Mr. Yuan Wei(note i) RELE (B) - 699 17 399 - 1,115
Mr. Yang Jilin (note i BER A (Hzki) - 354 9 - - 363
Non-Executive Directors ~ F#178%

Mr. Li Xiangjun SHRERA 100 300 - - - 400
Independent Non-Executive BYFEHTEE

Directors )

Dr. Huang Chung Hsing ERERT 60 - - - - 60
Mr. Cheung Wi Tak REEEE (M)

(note iv) ‘ 10 - - - - 10
Ms.LiYaRuNancy notev)  ZEmat (Hiy) 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Li Qunsheng (note vi ZRELE (W) 89 - - - 89

359 1,470 26 399 1,000 3,254
Salaries, Equity- Payments for
allowances settled termination of
and benefits ~ Retirement  share-based  Performance  service of
inkind scheme payments related directors
Fees %% 2% contioutions MK ?ﬁ:Z bonuses #IFEF R Total
e RENHE BRGHEER NRIAFE RREERA PAGES @5t
HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$000 HK$"000 HK$’000 HK$"000 HK$"000
THETL THETL T TATL AL T THEL
For the year ended BE-B-=F

31 December 2013 TZA=T-ALEE
Executive Directors UnEs
Mr. Chen Hong [y - 1,040 - 472 - 1512
Ms. Wei Jianya (note vil DL (i) - 531 - - - 531
Mr. Yuan Wei REEE - 70 - 472 - 542
Non-Executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Li Xiangjun THEEE 107 300 - - - 407
Independent Non-Executive BYFEHTEZS

Directors
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing S hy 60 - - - - 60
Mr. Cheung Wai Tak REELE 100 - - - - 100
Ms. Li Bailing (note vi SRELT (Hizhvil 83 - - - - 83
Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy EY 23 12 - - - - 12

362 1,941 - 944 - 3,247
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEME @

EM OLU ME NTS (Continued)

a.

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(0

Mr. Chen Hong resigned on 14 February 2014.

EEME @
S

0] AR AER-ZT—NFE = A+ H

BT -
(ii) Mr. Yuan Wei was appointed on 19 November (ii) RERER_ZE—=F+—A+h
2013 AEZT -
(iii) Mr. Yang Jilin was appointed on 8 July 2014. (iii) BERSERZ—NNF+A\R
BZAT o
(iv) Mr. Cheung Wai Tak resigned on 7 February (iv) REEEENR-_ZT-MNFE_ALH
2014. BT ©
(v) Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy was appointed on 19 (v) THROLTHR T —=F+—A+
November 2013 NBEEZE -
(vi) Mr. Li Qunsheng was appointed on 7 February (vi) FRHRAER_TE—NF=_AtAH
2014 EZRAE-
(vil  Ms, Wei Jianya resigned on 19 November 2013 (i)  BRSEZIR-ZF-—Z=F+—A+
JLEBHE o

(viii)

Ms Li Bailing was appointed on 18 January 2013
and resigned on 19 November 2013

In 2014, the amounts of share-based payments

were measured according to the Group’s

accounting policies for share-based payment

transactions as set out in note 4 to the financial

statements.

None of the directors of the Company waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments paid by the

Company and no incentive payment for joining the

Company to any director of the Company during

the two years ended 31 December 2014 and

2013.

i) ZFHEBZTR-_Z—=F—A+N
AEZAIN -_E—=F+—HF+
FLEBHT -

A= - R R BTV IRIE
BT R M ST B A R B B AR
DETFA LGS

BHE_Z-—MFER-_T—=F+_A
=t HUEMEFE  $EARFE
EREXFABMETAAARF A
ZBE - TMERIARR B AEMR
REFATARBEMESE -
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEME @
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

b. Five highest paid individuals b. EUGZSHATL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments REBRAUEEHATBERRAM
in the Group, two (2013: three) were directors of H(CE—=F ZRESE  FEZ
the Company, whose remunerations are included N LSRR - TN TESB=E (2
in the disclosures above. The remunerations of T—=F MA) AT Z2FHMBAT :
the remaining three (2013: two) individuals were
as follows:
2014 2013
—E—-mF —T—=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FBT T
Salaries allowances and benefits e EMEREDHZ
in kind 2,285 1,592
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B R 17 15
Equity-settled share-based payments DA JR#E 45 & 2 LARS 32 A~ F0OE 860 -~
3,162 1,607
Their remunerations were within the following MEZHWER T HER :
band:
Number of individuals
AE
2014 2013
—E-0mF —E—=F
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 2 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T
%1,500,0007% 7T 1 -




13. INCOME TAX (RELATING TO

CONTINUING OPERATIONS) )

During the year ended 31 December 2014, no Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided for as the Group did not
generate any taxable profits in Hong Kong (2013: Nil).

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income
tax at 25% (2013: 25%). Taxation arising in other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the

respective jurisdictions.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss

) o

st

ﬁ o

FREMB AR R25% (— T —=
MR ERENPBREMSHE - B A AER
EAZHRBRSEREEE ZBITHE
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13. FifEH (A EEREN

BE-F-ME+=A=T—BILFE - @
AT 2 B30 A B A AT SRR
WAL AR SR B B (— B =4

: 25%)

AREEHNHERES B MEMEmEmR

before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or ZBHAIEBRYERENT -
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
2014 2013
—E—NF —E—=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Loss before tax BrERIEE
(from continuing operations) CREFELEER) (47,417) (22,551)
Tax at respective applicable tax rates BHRBERARETE 2HIE (6,697) (3,082)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR 2R TE
for tax purposes 20,144 12,616
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBRBAZRIEHE
tax purposes (15,209) (11,766)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBEBBZBHBEEZE 1,762 2,873
Utilisation of tax losses previously FAARGERBIEER
not recognised = (641)
Income tax for the year REFWFIEH

(relating to continuing operations)

(R BEEEEER)
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 14. ERIERE XK

On 31 October 2013, the Company entered into the an NR-_E—=F+A=+—H ' KRFIF[>Z—
agreement to dispose of Everjoy Technology TEEHEKER R AR A 7 8ok 245
Development Corporation and Everjoy International Media REEARANT (RENEEFEDEEZFEER)
Corporation which carried out all the Group’s ticketing AREETREG FERZGNES - BER
operations, and transfer of deposit on improving the —E-—mE=A+-—HEK - BEEERZRSEY
Online Ticketing System. The disposal was completed EMERETEE Rt 2R ERES
on 12 March 2014. The carrying amounts exceed the 18 N H fih fE U sx 18 o

net proceeds of sale and accordingly, impairment losses
of goodwill and other receivables were recognised.

2014 2013
—E-0OF —E—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Loss for the year from AEERBEKIE
discontinued operations ReEEBKoEE
Revenue WA - 3,593
Profit before tax B ¢ A A - 3,593
Loss on remeasurement to fair values EFEQAFERBEENRAZ
less costs to sell B8
— impairment losses on goodwill —ERBEEE - (56,008)
— Impairment losses on other receivables —Hi W FIEREEE - (11,116)
Loss for the year from AFEEREERIELEETS
discontinued operations el og = (63,531)
Cash flows from discontinued RECHKRILREEEIE
operations ZEERE
Net cash inflows from operating activites  &KEEKELZIRESTAFEE - 3,593

Net cash inflows B R A TR - 3,593




15. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD
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15. 7 EABEHEEE

FOR SALE
(@) The Group (a) ZA&KE
2014 2013
—F-WmF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FHIT
Goodwill (see note 18(v) and (vi) 2 (R K EE18(v) A (vi) - 12,047
Other receivables (note i) H b pe Uk 3k 18 (BT 5ED) - 3,584
Cash and cash equivalents HehReFERE - 13,849
Assets classified as held for sale DEABIELEEE - 29,480
Other payables H b B 5RI8 - 59
Liabilities directly associated with OB ARIELE
assets classified as held for sale JEEERMBABZAE - 59

Note:

The deposit on improving the Online Ticketing
System has been classified and accounted for
at 31 December 2013 as disposal group held
for sale and was fully impaired for the year then
ended (see note 14).

For the year ended 31 December 2013, in
accordance HKFRS 5, the assets and liabilities
held for sale were written down to their fair value
less costs to sell of HK$29,421,000. This is a
non-recurring fair value which has been
measured using observable inputs within level
2 of the fair value hierarchy.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the
assets classified as held for sale were fully
disposed at its carrying amount, therefore no
gain or loss on disposal was recognised.

fi g -

RZZE—=F+=ZRA=+—H " K
ERLEBRFNRESESERA
BRBIMERFEL & 2 HEAR B R E
EZALFECABNE (R
14) o

HE-_Z—=F+-A=+—H1Lt
FE - REBEFBVEHREERES
55 IFEREEERBEERMRE
BENRATFERBEKDS - A
29,421,000/ 7T ° WL AL E MR
FE NERBRATESRES
BAR A B R A BB E -

BE-_T--MmOFE+-_A=t+—HL
FE  DBEABELEEECKE
REEDSBLE  F I EERE
fi] B U B8 -
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15.

16.

17.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE (Continued)

(b) The Company

The investments in subsidiaries of Everjoy
Technology Development Corporation and Everjoy
International Media Corporation was disposed on
12 March 2014, the investments cost of those
subsidiaries was classified as Assets classified as
held for sale for the year ended 31 December 2013.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
December 2014, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period (2013: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

From continuing and discontinued
operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on
the loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$56,872,000 (2013:
HK$96,449,000), and based on the weighted average
number of shares in issue during the year of
approximately 2,063,322,000 ordinary shares
(2013:1,476,858,000 ordinary shares), as adjusted to
reflect the shares by conversion of convertible notes,
exercise of share options and issuance of placing shares
during the year.

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share from continuing
operations is based on loss for the year from continuing
operations attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$56,872,000 (2013: HK$32,918,000),
and based on the weighted average number of shares in
issue during the year of approximately 2,063,322,000
ordinary shares (2013: 1,476,858,000 ordinary shares),
as adjusted to reflect the shares by conversion of
convertible notes, exercise of share options and issuance
of placing shares during the year.

—OET-—A=t-HLEE

16.

17.

TEABELEEE @

(b) AIF

RHBARKERRERARA TS
NEERERERATZREDR
T mE-Ri-pE BE-F
—ZETZAST—BILEE

Paras
2=

MEBARZRERARNDBERFELE
gs!
BE_T- MO+ _A=T—"HLFELE
/JEHEJZT IR ERBE - RS HREIE
=Y SNRER NS (_:;—_E ®) -
BREE

REFERCRIEEEERR

BREABERENFEARREE ARG
B 1E#56,872,0008 L (= E—=
96,449,000/ 7T) © A MBI RBFRNE
AR RIB S - TR AR R TR E AR
DMEITID 2 FRB TR IEFIIEE
#92,063,322,000 Ti@k (=T —=F :
1,476,858,0000% & @ %) 51 &

REFELSEXEK
REFBELEEBNEREREETIRER
FEARRFBAABGREFELEEBLN
BB #56,872,0008 L (=T — =4 :
32,918,000/ 7T) * MA AT EE LA R BRF A
R EREER  (THEEREREITRE
f& 10 B 1TAR D 2 F A E BT (0 N F 5
# B #92,063,322,0000% & ﬁﬂx (—f— =
% 1,476,858,0000% L EAY) &




17.

18.

LOSS PER SHARE (continued)
From discontinued operations

The Company does not have discontinued operation in
2014 and therefore no loss per share for discontinued
operation for the year ended 31 December 2014 is
presented.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the calculation
of the basic loss per share from discontinued operations
is based on loss for the year from discontinued operations
attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$63,531,000, and based on the
weighted average number of shares in issue during the
year of approximately 1,476,858,000 ordinary shares,
as adjusted to reflect the shares by conversion of
convertible notes during the year.

No diluted loss per share has been presented for the
years of 2014 and 2013 as the share options and
convertible notes outstanding have anti-dilutive effects
on the basic loss per share amounts presented.
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17. BRE#E »

REERIEREXEK

ARBR-E-NFLERBERIEREE
% AU R IEREXRBRE_F
—ME+t - A=t—BIFEZEBRESE -

HE-_ZT—=F+_A=+—HIEE kB
BRI E BN ERENGIBIREBATE
ANTHEA ABERE BRI EEKHEE
#9/%63,531,000/8 7T * LA M A 2L A S Bk F 1)
A A R eEIR M B TR D 2 FNE BT
R& 17 hN4E 5 8k B #91,476,858,0000% & i A%
ETE o

i ARIT R Z B R AT R R R E 25
ZEREABEREBEAARBERR - R
BmEN_T-NMFER-_ZT-=F2E5REE
B8 e

GOODWILL 18. B8
The Group
AEE
HK$’000
FHETT
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2013 (Notes i, ii, i & iv) RZZE—=F—F—8 (B&Fi i ~iiX&iv) 747,159
Transfer to Assets classified BEESHEARELHSEEE Wity
as held for sale (Note v) (68,055)
At 31 December 2013 NZZE—=F+-_HA=+—H8K
and 31 December 2014 —E-NmNE+-A=+—H 679,104
Accumulated impairment losses Rt RESE
As at 1 January 2013 R-_Z—=%—H—H 679,104
Impairment losses recognised during the year FARRREEE 56,008
Transfer to Assets classified RN EAFBEHEEE (Mity)
as held for sale (Note v) (56,008)
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F+ZA=+—8HK
and 31 December 2014 —E-MF+-A=+—H (679,104)

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2014

ARTEE
R-ZE-—WFE+-_A=+—H

At 31 December 2013

R-F-=%+-A=+-A
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18. GOODWILL (continueq)

Note:

Vi

Goodwill arose on acquisition of subsidiaries New Beida
Business Study Net Group Limited is HK$647,598,000
on 27 February 2008.

Goodwill arose on acquisition of subsidiaries, IIN Medical
(BVI) Group Limited (“lIN Medical (BVI)”) and its
subsidiaries on 23 April 2009.

Goodwill arose on acquisition of non-controlling interests
of Hunan IIN Medical Network Technology Development
Company Limited, a subsidiary of IIN Medical (BVI), in
May 2009.

Goodwill arose on acquisition of ii and iii is
HK$31,506,000.

Goodwill arose on acquisition of subsidiaries, Everjoy
International Media Corporation (“El”) and Everjoy
Technology Development Corporation (“ET”) is
HK$68,055,000 on 20 December 2012.

On 31 October 2013, the Company entered into an
agreement to dispose of El and ET. The disposal was
completed on 12 March 2014, the goodwill and
accumulated impairment losses of ET and El was
transfer to Assets classified as held for sale accordingly.

On 12 March 2014, El and ET was disposed of the
goodwill and accumulated impairment losses was
derecognised.

—OET-—A=t-HLEE

18. & »

P&t

Vi

AEDIR-_ZEENF A=+t AKEN
BRAFLEAEEREEREGRAFKE
4+ R647,598,0007%8 7T ©

BEDR-ZTAFOA -+ =HEEN
BAREMBEBVVEEAFR AR ([EH
BEBV))) REMBARREL -

Fﬁﬁi)}EA_Y TNFRAKEREAEZ

(BVI)2 Bff B8 &) — 7 e B &1L B8 B2 A8 4% B
FREARRA Tzéﬁ & 4 Evéi °

A Ty A IR B Rzl EE A4 0 A31,506,000
JC °©

Vs
AEIR_ZE——F+_A=+AKEN
BAR - XERBEEHEGRAR ([KEEEH

B 1) Rk 4 Wﬂé@ﬁﬁﬁ a) ([ox 2Rt
) B EL - £68,055,000/8 7T °

%:%—E¢+ﬂ:+—av$“ﬂﬂj
—IA 1 E K B R B RN - HE
E/t\:%ﬁ*mizﬂ‘f’famﬁx C R ok
LR oK S BIR O E R R REDREEE
BESHERBELEEE -

ROE-NF=ZA+ B KEBRK KK
%‘éﬂ&aﬁ% ' E&%@Jﬁﬁﬁi/uﬁ%&%ﬂﬁ
B -




18. GOODWILL (continueq)

Impairment testing of goodwill

i.

ii.

Acquisition of New Beida Business Study
Net Group Limited (“New Beida”)

As at the year ended 31 December 2009, the
Group had performed an impairment testing of
goodwill arose on acquisition of New Beida with
reference to a valuation carried out by LCH (Asia—
Pacific) Surveyors Limited (“LCH”), an
independent qualified valuer. As New Beida
sustained a negative cash flow for the year ended
31 December 2009 and such position was
expected to continue in the foreseeable future,
the directors of the Company were of the opinion
that the income approach was inappropriate to
reflect the value of New Beida as at 31 December
2009. The asset-based approach had been
adopted for the valuation for the year ended 31
December 2009, as opposed to the valuation
carried out by LCH for the year ended 31
December 2008 where the income approach was
adopted. Based on the business valuation, the
Group had recognised an impairment loss of
HK$326,115,000 in relation to goodwill arose on
acquisition of New Beida for the year ended
31 December 2009 (2008: HK$321,483,000). As
a result, the goodwill arose on acquisition of New
Beida was identified to be fully impaired.

Acquisition of IIN Medical (BVI)

As at the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Group has performed an impairment testing of
goodwill arose on acquisition of IIN Medical (BVI
) with reference to a valuation carried out by Grant
Sherman Appraisal Limited, based on cash flow
forecasts derived from the most recent financial
budgets for the next five years with a discount
rate of 17.83%. The directors of the Company
were of the opinion, based on the business
valuation, that there the Group had recognised
an impairment loss of HK$31,506,000 in relation
to goodwill arose from the acquisition of IIN
Medical (BVI) as at 31 December 2010. As a result,
the goodwill of HK$31,506,000 on acquisition of
IIN Medical (BVI) was identified to be fully impaired.

—Z— 5% - ANNUAL REPORT 2014

18. BE
[k YRR

i.

ii.

WEH I ABEHEBER L A
([#74E A )

B2 -_ZENF+-_A=+—HLHF
[E - REBREB LA ERGEERMF
BITRERMAR AT ([F8TT]) FTE
ZAEE - ETAWEIT L KT E LR
ﬁm&@ﬁﬁom#%ﬁﬁ#@

ENF+ZA=1+— Hiﬁﬁ#ﬁ
ﬁ BREeRE - MK ATBIRA
BARRMAIFE  ARAIEERE
WAETEE RMIFTIEARARZZEEAN,
F+-AZt+—HZEE -EEREE
FERMEREE_EENF T A
=t+t—HIEFEZHEERE  mAE
TEREZEZE_ZEENF+_A=+—
BIEFERMBATEITHE - ER
FlEREHE  AEEREE_ZZ
NE+-_A=+—BIFEHREH
EUEER L KmMEEmE 2 RERIE
326,115,000 L (ZEZE )\ F
321,483,000/ 7T) © FH It - FHUEEHT
IEAMELEZHECRBERER
{Eo

W f5 B 51 &% (BVI)
BE-Z-ZFT_A=1+—RHL*F

B AEBZ2RPEFTEBRABIE
oz B - BEFE Y B AL ER S5(BVI) M
EEEEETRENHR - BEEE
TIRIB RS AR AT RIER (BHR
R17.83%) METZHE SR EFERE

T RRAIZEFERE  BIBZEBE
B AEBERR-Z—ZF+=A
=+ —HEAKEBEGEZSEBV)mEL
2 E BRI EE 831,506,000
7T o Bt - EUEE R AT B 25 (BVI) T E
A 7 231,506,000 TE R AES
HUFE ©
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18. GOODWILL (continueq)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continueq)

ii.

iii.

Acquisition of IIN Medical (BVI)
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of the goodwill has been
determined on the basis of value-in-use
calculation. The key factors for the value-in-use
calculation are discount rates, growth rates and
expected changes in revenue and direct costs.
Capital Asset Pricing Model has been adopted to
estimate the discount rate by using market data
of other companies with business similar to 1IN
Medical (BVI). The growth rate is based on the
historical Consumer Price Index of the PRC.
Changes in revenue and direct costs are based
on past performance of [IN Medical (BVI) and
management’s expectation of the market
development.

Acquisition of Everjoy International and
Everjoy Technology

On 31 October 2013, the Company entered into
an agreement to dispose of Everjoy International
and Everjoy Technology. The disposal was
completed on 12 March 2014. The carrying
amounts exceed the net proceeds of sale and
accordingly, impairment losses of goodwill
amounted of approximately HK$56,008,000 were
recognised. The goodwill and accumulated
impairment losses of Everjoy International and
Everjoy Technology was transferred to assets
classified as held for sale during the year ended
31 December 2013 and derecognised during the
year ended 31 December 2014.

BE »

B R ERE @)

ii.

iii.

W f5 B 5 2% #(BVI) (4)

BEZAREeREDHEREENE
HEETF - EREEFEZEIZEAR
RRBERERERAZBHRE - BRE
RIEHES  EAEETERACHE
Ry ARAEBABEBVIRER
U 2 Hth AR 2 TG AT RE
BE - BRREDENFEZBEHRE
MEREE - W RERKRAZE
BHREEABEEBV)ZEERRER
EREHMSERZREMEDL

W f ok SE B R % ok R

AT — :¢+ﬂ + = IEVIN/N
2137 — A 17 5 8 Ak B B PR B 44 M
o HER-ZT— @¢ A+=ZA%
B o BRTEERB AL &S RIEF5E
Hit ERREEREBED
56,008,000/ T ° EA@K —F—=
TZA=T—HIEFE  KEEERR
mﬂ&mﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂ@%EEL
ENHEARIELEEE UREEC=
T-—ME+-A=+—HBILFEERIF
R -
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 190. ¥ - MERKRE

EQUIPMENT
The Group a. &K
/ Furniture, \
fixtures
and office
equipment
Leasehold > Motor
improvements #ER vehicles Total
HEMEHE MAERE AE oy
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
\_ FET FET FET jr?é%j
Cost AR
At 1 January 2013 R-ZT—=
—A—H 1,057 15,463 411 16,931
Additions NE 998 289 - 1,287
Disposal & - 616) - (616)
Written-off s (1,063) (811) - (1,874)
Exchange realignment B 5,3 B 6 387 11 404
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=%F
+-F=+—8 998 14,712 422 16,132
Additions NE - 148 7,092 7,240
Disposal HE - - (76) (76)
Exchange realignment L - (325) (14) (339)
At 31 December 2014 RZE—NF
+-A=+—H 998 14,535 7,424 22,957
Accumulated depreciation ZiHiTE KRR E
and impairment
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=%F
—A—H 1,057 13,866 378 15,301
Charge for the year F NG 454 1,218 17 1,689
Disposal HE 6 (554) - (548)
Written-off i) (1,069) (765) (16) (1,850)
Exchange realignment b 5 A% 6 360 9 375
At 31 December 2013 R-E—=
+=ZA=+-H 454 14,125 388 14,967
Charge for the year FRFHE 544 201 537 1,282
Disposal HE - - (59) (59)
Exchange realignment B 5,3 B - (313) (10) (323)
At 31 December 2014 N T —MF
+-F=+—8 998 14,013 856 15,867
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2014 R-ZT—MEF
+-RB=+—8 - 522 6,568 7,090
At 31 December 2013 RZZT—=%F
+-F=+—8 544 587 34 1,165
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 19. V¥ - MERRE »
EQUIPMENT (continued)
b. The Company b. AT
/ Furniture, \
fixtures

Leasehold and office
improvements equipment

HEME HM- H£B Total
®1E RRAERE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
\_ FHET FHET ?;‘%ﬁ/
Cost KA
At 1 January 2013 RN-_Z—=%—H—H - 68 68
Additions NE 998 61 1,059
At 31 December 2013 WN-_ZE—=F+_-_A=+—H 998 129 1,127
Additions NE - 34 34
At 31 December 2014 HN-Z—ME+—-_A=+—H 998 163 1,161
Accumulated 2 ITERBE
depreciation
and impairment
At 1 January 2013 RN-_Z—=%—H—H - 29 29
Charge for the year FAFHE 454 24 478
At 31 December 2013 WN-ZE—=%+_-"A=+—H 454 53 507
Charge for the year FANFHE 544 25 569
At 31 December 2014 R-Z—ME+_-_A=+—H 998 78 1,076
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2014 HW-Z—ME+-_A=+—8H - 85 85

At 31 December 2018 R_ZT—=F+=-_H=+—H 544 76 620
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= yaip?
20. INVESTMENTS IN 20. RMIB AT Z2®RE
SUBSIDIARIES
The Company
VNN
2014 2013
— Lk —ZF—=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETAR - AR 800,001 800,001
Less: impairment losses W IRERARZREEE
on investment costs (800,001) (800,001)
Except for the amount due from Beijing Hua Tao BRERKIERERZERBZERAAIRIE
Education Technology Company Limited of 40,000,000/ ST B MEH - LEFFEK2.5%5T
HK$40,000,000 is unsecured, interest bearing at 2.5% BRER—FNEZRLAIN BB ARZ4
p.a and repayable within 1 year, the balances with BIDEER  SEREETEENRH - ZEX
subsidiaries are unsecured, interest— free and have no HRHEEEEATERES
fixed terms of repayment. The carrying amounts of these
amounts approximate to their fair value.
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December FEMBRAAR-ZE—WF+=-_A=+—8H
2014 are as follows: ZHBEWAT
/ Place of \
incorporation/
registration/ Proportion
operations Paid up share capital/ interest held by
Name of subsidiary HREY/ registered capital the Company Principal activities
KEARER i/ Sy BRRA/ERER RARRERE L TEER
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2014 2013 2014 2013
\_ Zg-ME “F-=F “§-[F “T-=% Y,
China E-Learning Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100% = - Provision of management
(Hong Kong) Limited Bk ETERR services to group companies
PEBEAE (B BRAA MEERRRHEERRE
New Beida Business BvI Ordinary shares 100% 100% = - Investment holding
StudyNet Group Limited AERAEE US$10,000 RERR
T ABEREEARAT 10,000% T & AR
Best Boom Enterprises Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$10 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
AERAEE 10X TEBR REER
Beijing Hua Tuo Education PRC Registered capital - - 100% 100% Provision of occupational
Technology Company g HK$40,000,000 education, industry
Limited (note a) 40,000,008 T &R certification course,
FRERYENRARLE skills training and
(P 3¥a) education consultation

REEZYE OER7ERE
e Ve
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INVESTMENTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

20.

20. RMIB AR ZRE »

/ Place of \
incorporation/
registration/ Proportion
operations Paid up share capital/ interest held by
Name of subsidiary HRAY/ registered capital the Company Principal activities
HELRER i/ Sy BRRA/ERER KARRERE LD TEXE
Directly Indirectly
B ik
2014 2013 2014 2013
\_ “E-MF “T--£ SE-ME DT Y,
Beijing Ke Xiong Education PRC Registered capital - - 100% 100% Provision of occupational
Company Limited (note a) g RMB5,000,000 education, industry
ERBEAERRAA AR 5,000,000 certification course,
(fizta) HMER skills training and
education consultation
REBENE EAREE.
RESHRAERS
[IN Medical (BVI) Group BVI Ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited EBRRES HK$13,677,288 REZR
HABEEBVEEARAT 13,677,2887% 7L % it
[IN Medical Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Investment holding
ARBEEEBRAT & HK$3,000,000 REZR
3,000,000% 7T & B
Hunan IIN Medical Network PRC Registered capital - - 100% 100% Investment holding
Technology Development b RMB14,530,808 RARR
Company Limited (note a) AR#14,530,8087C
AEEABERANERY HMER
AR A7 (it
Distance Education College of PRC Registered capital - - 51% 51% Provision of distance
Beiing University of i RMB200,000 learning program
Chinese Medicine AR#900,0007 in Chinese medicine
GRRBEAS HMER RERBEERAFRE
EEAEER
Everjoy International Media BvI Ordinary shares - - = 100% Distribution of event
Corporation (note b) RBRNES HK$8 tickets
XEERERERAA (Hib) BETERR AREDHZ
Everjoy Technology BVI Ordinary shares - - = 100% Provision of design, development,
Development Corporation AERLES HK$387,575 and improvement of software
(note b) 387 575 T EBR system
KERREEERAA (Hib) RERBZZMR  RERyE
Maxbob Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - - 100% - Investment holding
BERARRAA &R HKS1 REER
TR ERE

Notes: B 5T

a. These are wholly-foreign owned enterprises established a. BEFRBINKY 2 INEEERE -
in the PRC.

b. These two subsidiaries were classified on assets b. RZE—Z=F+=_RA=+—0 ' ZmHEMH
classified as held for sale (see note 15(b)) as at 31 BARIESEINADEARBELHELAE (R
December 2013 and the disposal was completed on MEE150) BZEEER T —NF=A
12 March 2014. +ZHEX

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities RERKFRETARHE - ZERBARWE

subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during

the year.

TERHE
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INVESTMENTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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20. RMIBRABIZ2®RE »

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have material F2ENBRARIMABEAFIERERSR 2 FE
non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned TRETASBEIFEZENB AR MAEANIE
subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling Bl ER 2 FFE
interests:
/ Place of \
incorporation and
principal place of Proportion of
business interests held by Profit allocated to Dividend paid to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary ERBER non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
HELRER IEERMY FARRRFHEERA AEFEAREEEA Eft#RREERA RiHAREE
311214 311213 311214 31712113 214 RITAVILR 311214 311213
-BE = -BE -z -BE = -BE -zf
t2AZt-R  toA=f-8 [f2RSt-R tOAzt-F tZREt-R toA=TB +2REt-R toA=fE
HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS 000
\_ Tén TET TAn T TAn :F%f[/
Distance Education College of PRC 49% 49% 9,455 10,367 8,690 9,040 6,344 5,756
Bejjng Universtty of
Chinese Medicine
TRhBERSERAAER L

Summarised financial information in respect of each of
the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interest is set out below. The summarised financial

ERAAREE 2 EMBARMAENIEZERE
@2 BB A E R E SIS o T 5Bl S
BN AEERME A Z 25 -

information below represents amounts before intragroup

eliminations.
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20. INVESTMENTS IN 20. RMIBRABIZ2®RE »
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Distance Education College of Beijing University of Chinese IR B KBRIZHE L
Medicine
2014 2013
:g — ﬂf — 7 — EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Current assets MENEE 39,099 41,074
Non-current assets EMENEE 355 405
Current liabilities mENBE (18,543) (21,681)
Non-current liabilities JEMEBBE - -
Revenue & 47,474 47,066
Other income RN 43 44
Total expenses B &E (28,221) (25,953)
Profit for the year F N 19,296 21,157
Total comprehensive income for the year FALHENRBEE 19,296 21,157
Net cash flow from operating activities REZEEHZReREFRE 17,847 18,576
Net cash flow from investing activities KEREGSH 2R SREFH (17,692) (18,410)
Net cash flow used in financial activities MEEBSMAZEENEFE - -
Net (decrease)/increase in RehBeEBEEE
cash and equivalents CRi ) /8 hni#5a (155) 166
21. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 21, HEHE A A
On 12 March 2014, the Group disposed of Everjoy R-Z—WNE=F+_-H KNEBLEEKE
International Media Corporation and Everjoy Technology BEREEERAFIERKERFEERBRA
Development Corporation. A] o
2014 2013
—E—-NF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Consideration received in cash LR & IR € FE1E B IWE
and cash equivalents ZRE 26,368 -
Net assets disposed of HEFEE (25,837) -
Cumulative exchange loss i E R EE (531) -

Gain on disposal B W = - -




21. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

22.

(Continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was

—Z— 5% - ANNUAL REPORT 2014 @

21. HEWEB AR @

BEREEFIRZEERBENN

lost.
2014 2013
—ZT-mF —T—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT T
Goodwill B 12,047 -
Cash and cash equivalents RehBEeEBEER 13,849 -
Other payables H b e 5RI8 (59) -
Net assets disposed of HEFEE 25,837 -
2014 2013
—E-ImfF ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net cash flow on disposed of subsidiaries HEWB AR ZE S K E F5
Consideration received in AR & NIA S FEE R W
cash and cash equivalent ZRE 26,368 -
Less: cash and cash equivalent B BHERER
balances disposed of ReEEIEE&EH (13,849) -
12,519 -
INVENTORY 22, FE
4 The Group )
KEHE
2014 2013
—F-NmF —E=F
HK$7000 HK$'000
\_ F&T ?7‘%7_1/
Cost B AR 179 183
Less: impairment losses W OREEE (155) (172)

24 11
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23. OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. Htt W R

4 The Group The Company )
AEH RKAF
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-mE T = —E-mE T =

HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000

\_ FET FET FHET ?;‘%ﬁ/

Deposits and other Ba &E R

receivables FRIA 181,880 104,576 95,072 591
Prepayments B FRIA 3,154 2,627 2,027 -
Less: impairment losses  Ji : JR{E & 1B (12,672) (18,077) - -
172,362 89,126 97,099 591

Deposits and other receivables include rental and utilities
deposits, deposit for a trading contract and a deposit in
the sum of HK$54,500,000 (“Registered Capital Deposit”)
for prepayment of registered capital of a new subsidiary
which was to be established in the PRC. As at the date
of this report, the trading contract was terminated and
all the deposit paid pursuant to it was refunded without
any deduction, and as the Company subsequently
decided not to establish the aforesaid subsidiary, a sum
of HK$29,500,000 has been refunded to the Company
as part of the Registered Capital Deposit, and the
Company expects to receive the balance of the
Registered Capital Deposit in the sum of HK$25,000,000
in due course.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s trade
and other receivables were individually determined to be
impaired. The individually impaired receivables are
recognised based on the credit history of customers, such
as financial difficulties or default in payments, and current
market conditions. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

ReERHEMEBERKFERERS RKERS
BE A NS kA 54,500,000/ 7T 5k A5 7
RER Y — B AR BN EMEARZIE
® ([FMEARZEE]) - RARERE  BE
BHERKIEARMBEBEEEMIReBRE
B &AM - BRRARRBERRET
B FMBAR - BoaMEekes
29,500,000 L EREFTAQAF] + AAH
BHERERKIESGEMEREZS A K
25,00,000& 7T °

RERERR  AEEZEHREMBEEER
RDEREEREEZRE - ERIRE &
WHRIRTIIRIBE P 2 (5 B2k (AN BN B s
KR FIB) RIRITHONFER - NEEYW Eh %
FREBEEEMERR -
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=, .
23. OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. HttEWERR @
The Group’s movement for provision of impairment of REEBBAMEWFIERERE 2 E SN
other receivables is as follows: o
4 The Group The Company N
AEE ¥/
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E—mE _—_FT—=F ZZTB-0OF _—_T—=
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
\_ FHET FAT FET ?5’%?5/
At 1 January n—H—H 18,077 33,450 - -
Impairment losses WEEE - 11,116 = -
Transfer to assets HESEA
classified as held BIEREEE
for sale - (11,116) = _
Written-off 1 85 (5,197) (20,745) - -
Exchange realignment ME 3, 38 B (208) 5,372 - -
At 31 December W+=ZA=+—H 12,672 18,077 - -
24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24. & KBESEEEHE
4 The Group The Company )
AEE ¥
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E—mE _—_FT-—=F ZZT-0OF _—_T—=
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
\_ TExT FAT F#&T ?7‘%77:/
Bank balances RITHER 187,378 15,038 174,370 773
Cash balances ReEH 34 63 4 49
Cash and bank balances Be RIS
included in a disposal GTADEAERE
group classified as &8 B E AR
held for sale - 13,849 - -

Cash and cash equivalents AR EHEXR
in the consolidated mRekRe
statement of cash flow ZEEE 187,412 28,950 174,374 822
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

25.

(Continued)

—OET-—A=t-HLEE

24, BEeRBEESEEHEE @

Cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$13,028,000 (2013: HK$28,096,000) for the Group

AEE RS MIESEEIEB £13,028,000
BT (CE— = : 28,096,000/ 7T) J1 A A

are denominated in Renminbi, which is not a freely RE5|ME - ﬁﬁ/\E%I?EQ RABRERE [
convertible currency and the remittance of funds out of B A B Bl AR BB B SNEE B AR
the PRC is subject to the exchange control imposed by R o
the PRC government.
Deposits with banks are interest bearing at the prevailing RITERIRBITIMHMEGTE o
market rates.
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. EZ REMEMRR
4 The Group The Company N
rEE AAF]
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-mE —FT-=F ZZE-NF —T—=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
\_ FHET FAT FET ?7‘%7_5/
Trade payables S RENERR 510 578 - -
Other payables H b fE 3RI8 20,504 19,999 3,110 129
Receipt in advance Sl ETOE] 17,190 20,425 - -
Accrued charges FEstEH 6,407 7,166 4,679 5,227
44,611 48,168 7,789 5,356

An aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of

reporting period is as follows:

BHRMNERNHERRZEEROHOT -

4 The Group The Company )
AEME AT

2014 2013 2014 2013
—F-NFE ~—FT-—=-F ZB-NFE ~—T-—=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000

\_ TR TAETT FTET Fi’ﬁffcj
Within 30 days 30HA 375 - - -
31 to 60 days 31HZE60HH - - - -
61 to 90 days 61HZ90H - - - -
Over 90 days B0 H 135 578 - -
510 578 - -




25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(Continued)

The average credit period on cost of goods sold and
services provided is 1-3 months. The Group has financial
risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

26. DEFERRED TAXATION
(@) The Group

The components of deferred tax (assets) liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the movements during the
years are as follows:

—Z— 5% - ANNUAL REPORT 2014 @

25 ESREMENSERR @

WEEQRIBRERE I RAZ THEEHA
12388 - AEBEEBHBRRELR
B o LAHEAR 2 BB SRR (5 B RS P
B o

26. EZEFIE
(@) ~&KEE

RER A MR R ARER 2 IEERIA
(BE) BEEKESY RRFRZE
LI

Accelerated tax

Depreciation Tax losses Total

MERBRE B et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET

At 1 January 2013, R-E—=F—HF—H 82 (82) -

Movement for the year F R 82) 82 -
At 31 December 2013and  HRZZE—=F+=-_A=+—HRK

31 December 2014 —E-WE+-_A=+—H - - -

At the end of the reporting date, the Group had
estimated the unused tax losses of approximately
HK$66,406,000 (2013: HK$76,748,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of such
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The Group has tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of approximately HK$15,837,000 (2013:
HK$15,837,000) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in the PRC
of approximately HK$50,569,000 (2013:
HK$60,911,000) that will expire in one to five years
for offsetting against future taxable profits.

(b) The Company

At the end of the reporting date, the Company
had unused tax losses of approximately
HK$15,387,000 (2013: HK$15,837,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
indefinitely assets have been recognised in respect
of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

ReRes HEASEAR - AEEGFTAT A
TEH SRR RN 2 RE)B M IAEE
#)/566,406,0008 L (—ZZ—=
76,748,000/ 7T) ° HRAETE AR 2R
AR - B ZEBEERE
EHMBEEE - NEERBEEEZH
TEE 18 4915,837,0008 T (ZE—=
F 1 15,837,000 T) » A fL R HAK
HEEEIBZ AR Z R RERE S
F o

AEEBRFTPREELEZZREEE
#150,569,0008 L (T — =4 :
60,911,000/ 7T) A —E A FRATE
AR R FERBOEF o

(b) AAF

RERE B BT - AARIARSH
2 BIAE18#4915,387,000/8 T (=& —
=4F : 15,837,000/ 7T) O] FAEIK #54
o F o B A AR B TE AL oK 2R FI 2R
B I ERZ S BB ERERIE
ERIEEE o
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. A
The Group and the Company REBRAKRRQ A
Number of
shares Share capital
RAEE &N
Notes HK$'000
k=3 FAEL
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2013 W-_E—=F—F—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.5 each BREESETLZ
Tk 10,000,000,000 5,000,000
Capital reorganisation [N 40,000,000,000 -
At 31 December 2013 and RZZE—=F+-A=+—-HBK
31 December 2014 —E-NE+-A=+—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each EREE01ETT
2Bk 50,000,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BITRERE:
At 1 January 2013 W-ZE—=%—HF—H
Ordinary shares of SRMEE0SBITL 1,471,878,902 735,939
HK$0.5 each T
Issue of shares by conversion MR EREER
of convertible notes IE:3E1:3%) a 142,344,000 14,235
Capital Reorganisation fRAREH c - (588,752)
At 31 December 2013 R-ZE-=F+=ZA=+—H
Ordinary shares of SREEIBTZZER
HK$0.1 each 1,614,222,902 161,422
Placing of new shares e & ik 1 d 465,000,000 46,500
Issue of shares by conversion A Z i EE R b
of convertible notes IESh4%) 880,048,294 88,005
Issue of share by exercised RfTE R m TR G e
of share option 255,000,000 25,500
At 31 December 2014 R-E-NE+=A=+—H
Ordinary shares of EREHEIETZEER
HK$0.1 each 3,214,271,196 321,427




27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

28.

Notes:

(@)

During the year ended 31 December 2013, convertible
notes in the principal amount of HK$14,234,400 were
converted by holders to subscribe for 142,344,000
shares. Details of the conversion during the year are
set out in note 30.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, convertible
notes in the principal amount of HK$166,257,000 were
converted by holders to subscribe for 880,048,294
shares. Details of the conversion during the year are
set out in note 30.

On 22 July 2013 (Cayman Islands time), the relevant
court order confirming the capital reduction and the
minutes approved by the Court pursuant to the
Companies Law were filed with the Registrar of
Companies in the Cayman lIslands and all other
conditions of the capital reorganisation were fulfilled.
The capital reorganisation became effective on Monday,
22 July 2013 (after trading hours).

On 21 November 2014, the Company issued
465,000,000 ordinary new shares at a subscription price
of HK$0.539 per share for a total cash consideration of
HK$250,635,000. The premium on the issue of shares
amounting to HK$204,135,000 was credited to the
Company’s share premium account. The transaction
costs attributable to issue of new shares amounting to
HK$4,074,000 was debited to the Company’s share
premium accounts.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, 255,000,000
share options were exercised by holders to subscribe
for 255,000,000 shares. Details of the share options
during the year are set out in note 37.

RESERVES

(a)

The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 53 of the annual report.
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CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED - FEI@KZBELEBERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 &#Z — T —UF+ - A=+ —HILFE
(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)
28. RESERVES (continueq) 28. #1EH =
(b) The Company (b) Z&AF
4 Convertible N
Share-based  note equity
Share payment reserve  Accumulated
premium reserve TaRk losses Total
ROEE URXfIRE ZEERRE ZiE# At
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
\_ iE3 T T TERL TR AL/
{1 January 2013 R-2-=&-f-F 176,650 14,494 7116 @85809 (677,549
Total comprehensive loss AEE2EEREE
for the year - - - (92,098) (92,098)
Issue of convertble notes EGRE S 30 - - 73 - 73
Issue of employee Share option /TR S E 37 - 6,204 - - 6,224
Redemption of convertble notes  EEFIARER 30 - - (905) 209 (696)
Transfer of share option reserve 1R MEERR IER &
upon the forfeiture of BRERE
share option 37 - (1,519) - 1,519 -
Capital reorganisation BrEgd 27(0) (176,650) - - 765,401 588,751
At 31 December 2013 and RZE-=FTZA=1-H
1 January 2014 R=Z-ME-F-R - 19,199 16,284 (210,772) (175,289)
Total comprehensive loss AEE2EEREE
for the year - - - (59,652) (69,652)
lssue of convertible notes ETEREE 30 - - 10,117 - 10,717
Issue of employee Share option /TR S E 37 - 5,730 - - 5,730
Issue of shares by conversion R REBEER
of convertible notes MR 30 91,633 - (42,220) - 49,411
Issue of shares by exercised RfeRRE
of share option &kl 37 18,873 (10,509) - - 8,364
Redemption of convertible notes ~ BE T AREHE 30 - - (5,999) 5,999 -
Placing of new shares &R 27(d) 204,135 - - - 204,135
Transaction costs atfrioutable ~ E/7TR 1A (L
to issue of new shares LREHA 27(d) (4,074 - - - 4,074
Incremental consideration resulted F% T RRZHE
from adjustment to conversion ~ RIREE S
price of convertiole notes LIEEM 30 - - 27,364 - 27,364
At 31 December 2014 RZE-WE+-A=1-H 310,567 14,420 6,144 (264,425) 66,706




28. RESERVES (continued)

(b)

The Company (Continued)

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
excess of the nominal value of the share capital
and the share premium account of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation
over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefore.

Pursuant to the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association,
the share premium of the Company is distributable
to the shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business. At 31 December
2014, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Company did not have any reserve
available for distribution to shareholders (2013:
Nil).

The share-based payment reserve comprises the
fair value of share options granted which are yet
to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payment
transactions in note 37 to the financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are
exercised, or be transferred to accumulate losses
should the related options expire or be forfeited.
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CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED - FEI@KZBELEBERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZ —F—MF+-_A=+—HILtFE

(Expressed in HK$) (LA 7T 711 7R)
29. OTHER BORROWINGS 29, HER

The Group and
the Company

AEBRAEAT

2014 2013
—F-—NF —F—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Borrowings from other parties: mEMFES

Gong Di Qing ZHE - 699
Zhiku Capital Investment Limited BEEREERRAT - 24,145
Superb Summit International Group Limited & & ER £ BB R A A - 939
Huang Qun =R - 9,700
Current e - 35,483
Borrowing from a shareholder-Yang Dong Jun [ —Z A% R &3k — 5 R E - 31,304
Non-Current FERE - 31,304

During the year ended 31 December 2014, all other
borrowings were fully settled.

As at 31 December 2013, the amount due to Yang Dong
Jun was unsecured, and HK$22,188,000 of this amount
has a maturity date of 1.5-year and an annual interest of
12%, and the remaining amount was interest-free.

As at 31 December 2013, the amount due to Gong Di
Qing was unsecured, and HK$200,000 of this amount
has a maturity date of 1-year and an annual interest of
5%, and the remaining amount was interest-free.

As at 31 December 2013, the amount due to Zhiku
Capital Investment Limited was unsecured, interest-free
and with a maturity date of 1-year.

As at 31 December 2013, the amount due to Superb
Summit International Group Limited was unsecured, with
a maturity date of 1-year and an annual interest of 5%.

As at 31 December 2013, the amount due to Huang Qun
was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

BE_ZT-NOF+_A=T—BLLFE A
BEMERDEHEE -

MRIZE—=F+"A=1—0 EXfIT15
REZFRALEIER - HF22,188,0008 7T
1.6FEIH - FREF12% - SR FRIRRE -

R-ZTE—=F+-A=+—8 " EXNT=
3B 2 NEAEYER - £R200,0008 14
BIH o FRERAE5% B TFRIARE -

R-ZE—=F+_-A=+—H EIXNFE
EEAAEBRARZFEAEER 28
MAFEE -

R-ZE—=F+_-A=+—8 " EXNTH
BEREEEARARZRELSERER 15D
R FFEEE5% -

RZZE—Z=5+ZA=+—H  EN=E=HZ
RAREER RERBAREREE -
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 30. AR ERE
The Group and the Company KREBRADT

TREEEREFANSBHEN T :

The movement of the convertible notes for the year

is set out below:

Financial
derivative-
Liability Equity liability
component component SRfTE Total
8EHS Bigo IR-8F H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL THL FHL TAL
Carrying amount W-E-=%—-F—H
at 1 January 2013 LEHE 105,838 17,116 1,476 124,430
Issuance of new notes BONEER 23,918 73 1,244 25,235
Conversion of notes HAZEE (13,538) (696) - (14,234)
Redemption of notes EOZEE (1) 2 - (13)
Settlement of notes ENEER (9,499) (207) - (9,700)
Effective interest expense ERFSRR 7,363 - - 7,363
Interest paid BRFIE (860) - - (860)
Change in fair value NTERE - - (2,220) (2,220)
Carrying amount RZE-=F+ZfA=+—H
at 31 December 2013 ZERE 113,217 16,284 500 130,001
Issuance of new notes BIHEE 71,601 10,717 - 82,318
Conversion of notes HAZER (137,485) (42,222) (492) (180,199)
Redemption of notes BEEER (43,317) (5,999) - (49,316)
Effective interest expense ERAERT 6,172 - - 6,172
Interest paid BHFIE (806) - - (806)
Incremental consideration resulted AR ZFARK(E
from adjustment to conversion EEZREEM
price of convertible notes - 27,364 - 27,364

Carrying amount RZE-NE+ZA=1—A
at 31 December 2014 ZERE 9,382 6,144 8 15,534




@ CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED - FEI@KZBELEBERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZ —F—MF+-_A=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)

30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 30.

The Group and the Company (Continued)
2011 A Convertible notes:

On 9 May 2011, the Company issued 1% coupon
convertible notes (the “CN 2011 A”) as settlement of other
loan which was due to the former shareholder of New

Beida as at 31 December 2010.

The principal terms of the CN 2011 A are as follows:

Date of issue 9 May 2011

Aggregate principal amount  HK$89,999,934

Interest rate 1%

Conversion price HK$0.50

Maturity date 36 months from the date
of issue

(a) Conversion period:

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of
the note in an amount of not less than
HK$1,000,000 on each conversion (save that if
an at time, the principal outstanding amount of
the note is less than HK$1,000,000, the whole
(but not part only) of the principal outstanding
amount of the notes may be converted) into shares
in board lot or multiples thereof at any time from
the issue date at the initial conversion price of
HK$0.50 per share up to (and excluding) the fifth
business day immediately before the maturity
date.

AR EE »®
AEERAKRRAT &)
—E——ETHRREEA
R-ZB——FEFAAR  AREBETI%EE
ZABRERE ([~ E——EaRBREEA]) -
UERR-—E—T&+ = =+—BEMH
b ARTAR SR > H A2k o

“E-—FUBERBAZE2ERMT

17 HH —E——FHANA
NG L 89,999,934 7T

B& 1%

AR (E 0.5078 7T

A BE1TAAIRET361E A

(@) R AR

EEREABHERERITEHREER
EINHEBHIIEAEEER (TeEZ
A) AR R 8 8%0.5078 TR ¥ 2
REBRE 2 2IKAMIBOREE
REeBHBAE—FUEFRNL - 8
HBREEMNABEELASET LR
1,000,000/ 7T+ (M fie 5 {7 B ] 7]
PREBEONREERASEIR
1,000,000/ ¢ + Al A] 3 Al AR R 4%
ZEE(MEE—BH) RKEELXS
8) o




30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)
2011 A Convertible notes: (Continued)
(b) Issuer early redemption option:

The Company shall not be entitled to early redeem
the notes before the maturity date.

(c) Valuation of liability component

As the date of issue, the liability component was
recognised at fair value. The fair value is calculated
using cash flows discounted at a rate based on
the discount rate of 7.20%.

On 9 May 2014, the Company and the Subscribers entered
into the Subscription Agreements pursuant to which the
Subscribers have agreed to subscribe for, and the Company
has agreed to issue, the Convertible Notes (CN2016-1 to
CN2016-5) in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$42,399,932, such that the subscription moneys payable
in connection with the Subscription of such Convertible
Notes would be set-off against the moneys payable by the
Company for redeeming the CN2011A in accordance with
the Payment Arrangement Deed and against the
Indebtedness owing by the Company to the Existing P-note
Holders at Completion. The CN2011A were fully set-off by
the issuance of Convertible Notes (CN2016-3, CN2016-4
and CN2016-5) on 6 June 2014.
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CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED - FEI@KZBELEBERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —Z—ME+ - A=+—HItFE
(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)

30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) AEERERE @
The Group and the Company (Continued) EBRAKRRAT (&)

2011 B Convertible notes:

On 11 May 2011, the Company issued 1% coupon
convertible notes (the “CN 2011 B”), the principal terms
of the CN 2011 B are as follows:

Date of issue 11 May 2011
Aggregate principal amount  HK$36,200,000
Interest rate 1%

Conversion price HK$0.50

Maturity date 6 months from the

date of issue

On 11 May 2012, the Company has fully redeemed the
note with principal amount plus any interest accrued in
2012 and 30% of additional compensation, with an
annual interest rate of 12%. Therefore, the Company has
accrued such loan payment of HK$51,070,000 as at year
ended 31 December, 2012.

2011 D Convertible notes:

On 14 September 2011, the Company issued 3% coupon
convertible notes (the “CN 2011 D”), the principal terms
of the CN 2011 D are as follows:

Date of issue 14 September 2011
Aggregate principal amount  HK$22,500,000
Interest rate 3%

Conversion price HK$0.50

Maturity date 12 months from the

date of issue

—E-—FuUBEREEB :

R-T——FHA+—HB  ARBETI%RE
SZABRRER(ZF——Fa2RkEE
BJ) —T—FABREREEBZ X 2N

FIENR -

%17 B —E——9FHAT—H
PN R 36,200,000 7T

B 1%

HAEE 0.50/8 7T

Elp-Eh= B 217 B B s 61E A

RZZE——FFA+—B KNREAKRELE
MZT— ZF R AT 8 %30%.2 585
HEZHELIZER (FMNXAE12%) - B
it ARRERBE-_Z——F+_A=+
—HIEFEEEBBERRM 51,070,000
5o

—E——FTRRERD :
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)
2011 D Convertible notes: (Continued)

On 6 March 2014, the Company has redeemed one of
the Convertible Notes 2011 D with the principal amount
of HK$10,000,000 in accordance with notice from the
holder. The Company is contacting the holder of the
Convertible Notes 2011 D with the principal amount of
HK$2,800,000 in order to settle the convertible notes.
As at 31 December 2014, the Company has not received
any reply or notice from the holder and the Company
has the funds available for redemption. Therefore the
Company has accrued such amount of HK$2,800,000
together with its interest accrued at the year ended 31
December 2014.

2012 EICN Convertible notes:

On 20 December 2012, the Company issued 1% coupon
convertible notes (the “EICN”), the principal terms of the
EICN are as follows:

Date of issue 20 December 2012

Aggregate principal amount  HK$58,235,956

Interest rate 1%

Conversion price HK$0.50

Maturity date 36 months from
the date of issue
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(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)
30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 30. ITERERE @

The Group and the Company (Continued)

2012 EICN Convertible notes: (Continued)

On 15 August 2014 (after trading hours), the Company
and the note holders of EICN entered into the Deeds of
Amendment, pursuant to which the Company and the
note holders of EICN agreed to amend certain terms and
conditions of EICN. Pursuant to the Deeds of
Amendment, (i) the conversion price of EICN will be
reduced from HK$0.50 per Share to HK$0.35 per share;
and (i) the interest rate of EICN will be reduced from 1%
per annum to zero. Save as amended pursuant to the
Deeds of Amendment, all other terms of EICN shall remain
unchanged and valid.

On 15 October 2014, the resolution in relation to the
proposed amendment to the terms and conditions of
EICN was duly passed by the independent shareholders
by way of poll at the Company’s extraordinary general
meeting.

On 27 October 2014, the Amendment of Terms has
become effective on 27 October 2014. The updated
terms of EICN are as follow:

20 December 2012
Aggregate principal amount  HK$58,235,956

Date of issue

Aggregate principal amount ~ HK$58,235,956
as at 27 October 2014

Interest rate 0%
Adjusted conversion price HK$0.35
Maturity date 36 months from the date

of issue

The incremental consideration resulted form adjustment
to conversion price amounting to HK$26,456,000 have
been recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2014.

AEBRARQT @)
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

2012 EICN Convertible notes: (Continued)

(@)

Conversion period:

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of
the note in an amount of not less than
HK$500,000 on each conversion (save that if an
at time, the principal outstanding amount of the
note is less than HK$500,000, the whole (but not
part only) of the principal outstanding amount of
the notes may be converted) into shares in board
lot or multiples thereof at any time from the issue
date at the initial conversion price of HK$0.35 per
share up to (and excluding) the fifth business day
immediately before the maturity date.

Issuer early redemption option:

The Company may at its sole and absolute
discretion redeem the Notes (or any part thereof)
at its principal amount outstanding together with
interest at any time and from time to time on or
before the notes maturity date.

—Z— 5% - ANNUAL REPORT 2014 @

30. TRREE »
AEBRARQT @)

ZE-CFUBRREHEKEERTERR

g (B
(@  ABmHE

ZEBEFEAEEREZRITHHRREEER
BRI BMERAEEER (TREZ
B) T EF R B %0.3578 LA H) 5
REZREZ 2HREMBDKREE
ReBRBRE—FAEZFRNL - B8R
RBEBENAEERSEILR
500,000/ 7T + (M fisd 7 fa] I FE] AT 32
% 2= 45 1) oK (8 38 AN € &E 2 10 500,000
PBIT - RISl iR RS g 2 256 (M
FE—HD) REELASRE) -

ARB A REREHA 2 B
MR TRAEREERSERMNE S
BREELNRE (EAHIRR) -




CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED - FEI@KZBELEBERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZ —F—MF+-_A=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)

30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

2012 EICN Convertible notes: (Continued)

©

Valuation of liability component

The fair value of EICN as at 20 December 2012
amounted to HK$48,872,000. The fair value is
calculated using binomial tree models at a rate
based on the discount rate of 7.79%.

As at 31 December 2014, the liability component
of EICN is approximately HK$9,382,000 which is
stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

As the Directors consider that the difference
between the original liability components at the
date of modification and the present value of the
modified liability component, discounted by the
original effective interest rate, is not substantial,
the modification not considered an extinguishment
of the original liability component.

30. TRREE »
AEBRARQT @)
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

2012 ETCN Convertible notes: (Continued)

On 20 December 2012, the Company issued 1% coupon
convertible notes (the “ETCN?”), the principal terms of
ETCN are as follows:

Date of issue 20 December 2012

Aggregate principal amount  HK$9,611,906

Interest rate 1%

Conversion price HK$0.50

Maturity date 36 months from the
date of issue

On 15 August 2014 (after trading hours), the Company
and the note holders of ETCN entered into the Deeds of
Amendment, pursuant to which the Company and the
note holders of ETCN agreed to amend certain terms
and conditions of ETCN. Pursuant to the Deeds of
Amendment, (i) the conversion price of ETCN will be
reduced from HK$0.50 per Share to HK$0.35 per share;
and (i) the interest rate of ETCN will be reduced from 1%
per annum to zero. Save as amended pursuant to the
Deeds of Amendment, all other terms of ETCN shall
remain unchanged and valid.

On 15 October 2014, the resolution in relation to the
proposed amendment to the terms and conditions of
ETCN was duly passed by the independent shareholders
by way of poll at the Company’s extraordinary general
meeting.
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

2012 ETCN Convertible notes: (Continued)

On 27 October 2014, the Amendment of Terms has
become effective on 27 October 2014. The updated
terms of ETCN are as follow:

Date of issue

20 December 2012

Aggregate principal amount HK$9,611,902
Aggregate principal amount ~ HK$2,000,000
as at 27 October 2014

Interest rate 0%

Adjusted conversion price
Maturity date

HK$0.35
36 months from the date
of issue

The incremental consideration resulted from adjustment
to conversion price amounting to HK$908,000 have been
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2014.

(@)

Conversion period:

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of
the note in an amount of not less than
HK$500,000 on each conversion (save that if an
at time, the principal outstanding amount of the
note is less than HK$500,000, the whole (but not
part only) of the principal outstanding amount of
the notes may be converted) into shares in board
lot or multiples thereof at any time from the issue
date at the initial conversion price of HK$0.35 per
share up to (and excluding) the fifth business day
immediately before the maturity date.

Issuer early redemption option:

The Company may at its sole and absolute
discretion redeem the notes (or any part thereof)
at its principal amount outstanding together with
Interest at any time and from time to time on or
before the notes maturity date.
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

2012 ETCN Convertible notes: (Continued)

(c) Valuation of liability component

The fair value of ETCN as at 20 December 2012
amounted to HK$8,067,000. The fair value is
calculated using binomial tree models at a rate
based on the discount rate of 7.79%.

As the Directors consider that the difference between
the original liability component at the date of modification
and the present value of the modified liability component,
discounted by the original effective interest rate, is not
substantial, the modification is not considered an
extinguishment of the original liability component.

The noteholder converted all the principal of ETCN in the
amount of HK$2,000,000 on 30 October 2014. Hence
ETCN were fully converted as at 31 December 2014.

CN2014-1 Convertible notes:

On 29 November 2013, the Company issued 1% coupon
convertible notes (the “CN2014-1"), the principal terms
of the CN2014-1 are as follows:

29 November 2013
Aggregate principal amount  HK$6,000,000
Interest rate 1%

Conversion price HK$0.10

Maturity date

Date of issue

12 months from
the date of issue
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

CN2014-1 Convertible notes: (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Conversion period:

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of
the note in an amount of not less than
HK$500,000 on each conversion (save that if an
at time, the principal outstanding amount of the
note is less than HK$500,000, the whole (but not
part only) of the principal outstanding amount of
the notes may be converted) into shares in board
lot or multiples thereof at any time from the issue
date at the initial conversion price of HK$0.10 per
share up to (and excluding) the fifth business day
immediately before the maturity date.

Issuer early redemption option:

The Company may at its sole and absolute
discretion redeem the notes (or any part thereof)
at its principal amount outstanding together with
interest at any time and from time to time on or
before the notes maturity date.

Valuation of liability component

The fair value of CN2014-1 as at 29 November
2013 amounted to HK$6,340,000. The fair value
is calculated using binomial tree models at a rate
based on the discount rate of 6.8%.

The noteholder converted all the principal of CN2014-1
in the amount of HK$6,000,000 on 20 June 2014.
CN2014-1 was fully converted as at 31 December 2014.
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30. CONVERT'BLE NOTES (Continued)

CN2014-2 Convertible notes:

On 29 November 2013, the Company issued 1% coupon

convertible notes (the “CN2014-2"), the principal terms
of the CN2014-2 are as follows:

Date of issue
Aggregate principal amount

29 November 2013
HK$5,000,000

Interest rate 1%

Conversion price
Maturity date

(a)

(b)

(c)

HK$0.10
12 months from
the date of issue

Conversion period:

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of
the note in an amount of not less than
HK$500,000 on each conversion (save that if an
at time, the principal outstanding amount of the
note is less than HK$500,000, the whole (but not
part only) of the principal outstanding amount of
the notes may be converted) into shares in board
lot or multiples thereof at any time from the issue
date at the initial conversion price of HK$0.10 per
share up to (and excluding) the fifth business day
immediately before the maturity date.

Issuer early redemption option:

The Company may at its sole and absolute
discretion redeem the notes (or any part thereof)
at its principal amount outstanding together with
interest at any time and from time to time on or
before the notes maturity date.

Valuation of liability component:

The fair value of CN2014-2 as at 29 November
2013 amounted to HK$5,283,000. The fair value
is calculated using binomial tree models at a rate
based on the discount rate of 6.8%.
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continueq)
CN2014-2 Convertible notes: (Continued)

The noteholder converted all the principal of CN2014-2
in the amount of HK$5,000,000 on 20 June 2014.
CN2014-2 was fully converted as at 31 December 2014.

CN2014-3 Convertible notes:

On 10 December 2013, the Company issued 1% coupon

convertible notes (the “CN2014-3”), the principal terms
of the CN2014-3 are as follows:

Date of issue
Aggregate principal amount

10 December 2013
HK$10,000,000

Interest rate 1%

Conversion price
Maturity date

(a)

(b)

HK$0.10
12 months from
the date of issue

Conversion period:

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of
the note in an amount of not less than
HK$500,000 on each conversion (save that if an
at time, the principal outstanding amount of the
note is less than HK$500,000, the whole (but not
part only) of the principal outstanding amount of
the notes may be converted) into shares in board
lot or multiples thereof at any time from the issue
date at the initial conversion price of HK$0.10 per
share up to (and excluding) the fifth business day
immediately before the maturity date.

Issuer early redemption option:

The Company may at its sole and absolute
discretion redeem the notes (or any part thereof)
at its principal amount outstanding together with
interest at any time and from time to time on or
before the notes maturity date.
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

CN2014-3 Convertible notes: (Continued)

(c) Valuation of liability component:
The fair value of CN2014-3 as at 10 December
2013 amounted to HK$9,894,000. The fair value
is calculated using binomial tree models at a rate
based on the discount rate of 6.01%.

The noteholder converted all the principal of CN2014-3

in the amount of HK$10,000,000 on 19 December 2013.

CN2014-4 Convertible notes:

On 10 December 2013, the Company issued 1% coupon
convertible notes (the “CN2014-4"), the principal terms
of the CN2014-4 are as follows:

Date of issue 10 December 2013
Aggregate principal amount HK$4,234,400
Interest rate 1%

Conversion price HK$0.10

Maturity date 12 months from

the date of issue
(a) Conversion period:

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of
the note in an amount of not less than
HK$500,000 on each conversion (save that if an
at time, the principal outstanding amount of the
note is less than HK$500,000, the whole (but not
part only) of the principal outstanding amount of
the notes may be converted) into shares in board
lot or multiples thereof at any time from the issue
date at the initial conversion price of HK$0.10 per
share up to (and excluding) the fifth business day
immediately before the maturity date.
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

CN2014-4 Convertible notes: (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Issuer early redemption option:

The Company may at its sole and absolute
discretion redeem the notes (or any part thereof)
at its principal amount outstanding together with
interest at any time and from time to time on or
before the notes maturity date.

Valuation of liability component:

The fair value of CN2014-4 as at 10 December
2013 amounted to HK$4,189,000. The fair value
is calculated using binomial tree models at a rate
based on the discount rate of 6.01%.

The noteholder converted all the principal of CN2014-4
in the amount of HK$4,234,400 on 19 December 2013.

CN2016 Convertible notes

On 6 June 2014, the Company issued 1% coupon

convertible notes (the “CN2016”), the principal terms of
the CN2016 are as follows:

Date of issue
Aggregate principal amount

6 June 2014
HK$42,399,932

Interest rate 1%

Conversion price
Maturity date

HK$0.13
24 months from the date
of issue
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

CN2016 Convertible notes (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Conversion period:

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of
the note in an amount of not less than
HK$500,000 on each conversion (save that if an
at time, the principal outstanding amount of the
note is less than HK$500,000, the whole (but not
part only) of the principal outstanding amount of
the notes may be converted) into shares in board
lot or multiples thereof at any time from the issue
date at the initial conversion price of HK$0.13 per
share up to (and excluding) the fifth business day
immediately before the maturity date.

Issuer early redemption option:

The Company may at its sole and absolute
discretion redeem the notes (or any part thereof)
at its principal amount outstanding together with
interest at any time and from time to time on or
before the notes maturity date.

Valuation of liability component:

The fair value of CN2016 as at 6 June 2014
amounted to HK$53,162,992. The fair value is
calculated using binomial tree models at a rate
based on the discount rate of 8.69%.

The noteholder converted CN2016 in the principal
amount of HK$30,040,000 on 12 June 2014. The
noteholder converted CN2016 in the principal amount
of HK$12,359,932 on 13 June 2014. CN2016 was fully
converted as at 31 December 2014.
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

CN2016A Convertible notes

On 8 July 2014, the Company issued 1% coupon
convertible notes (the “CN2016A”), the principal terms
of the CN2016A are as follows:

Date of issue
Aggregate principal amount

8 July 2014
HK$40,775,000

Interest rate 1%

Conversion price
Maturity date

(a)

(b)

HK$0.143
24 months from the date
of issue

Conversion period:

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of
the note in an amount of not less than
HK$500,000 on each conversion (save that if an
at time, the principal outstanding amount of the
note is less than HK$500,000, the whole (but not
part only) of the principal outstanding amount of
the notes may be converted) into shares in board
lot or multiples thereof at any time from the issue
date at the initial conversion price of HK$0.143
per share up to (and excluding) the fifth business
day immediately before the maturity date.

Issuer early redemption option:

The Company may at its sole and absolute
discretion redeem the notes (or any part thereof)
at its principal amount outstanding together with
interest at any time and from time to time on or
before the notes maturity date.
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continueq) 30. TRREE »
CN2016A Convertible notes (Continued) —E-REUBRBREBA®
(c) Valuation of liability component: (c) EfFH7zEHE:
The fair value of CN2016A as at 6 June 2014 TR -REAUBRBRERAR-Z -
amounted to HK$46,769,843. The fair value is FNANEHRATER46,769,843%
calculated using binomial tree models at a rate T AFETDNERZXEERZ
based on the discount rate of 6.85%. 6.85% M ALIR KT H o
The noteholder converted CN2016A in the principal RZZFE—NF+AZ+EHRB  EBEBEARL
amount of HK$10,725,000 on 25 July 2014. The RMIZE-—REUBRREBANKE &
noteholder converted CN2016A in the principal amount 10,725,000 L - RZZE—WF\NA+N
of HK$5,005,000 on 18 August 2014. The noteholder B ZEBFEARBR_Z-—RFARKRER
converted CN2016A in the principal amount of ARYZN £ 585,005,000/ 7T A =—ZF —QF +
HK$25,045,000 on 16 December 2014. CN2016A was ZATRE EBRBAEARBR_ZT—RER
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31.

32.

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following non-cash operating
and financing activities which are not reflected in the
consolidated statement of cash flows:

- In the current year, the Group settled certain
liabilities by issue of convertible notes of
approximately HK$83,175,000, the details as
below:

T—BIEFE

3. FBERH

K’EliﬁibAT%Efﬁ‘i\m%’*&mﬂéﬁ/ﬁiﬁ 18
Iiv?/m\ ﬂimu%%ﬁp&ﬁ%

Tﬁi’ms 175, ooo/%ﬂ%‘s%%?ié% '
BT

Other payable HK$3,420,000 H b fE S 5RI8 3,420,000/ 7T
Other borrowings HK$45,855,000 HMER 45,855,000/ 7T
Finance costs HK$3,000,000 A& B AR 3,000,000/ 7T
Convertible notes HK$30,900,000 GIEY e 30,900,000/ 7T
OPERATING LEASE 32. REHANEE
COMMITMENTS
At the end of the reporting date, the Group had LSHHRTER  AEBERBAEMER
commitments for future minimum lease payments under th & 2 DA SR A AR E 2 R R &
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office HERIBR BB ROT ¢
premises and other asset, which fall due as follows:
4 The Group N
AEE
2014 2013
—E—MOF —T—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
- =
Within one year —¢ W 1,749 2,996
In the second to fifth years inclusive ERF (REEREMT) 1,726 -
3,475 2,996

Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for terms of
1 to 2 years (2013: 1 to 2 years).

BODE—2-F(CT—=F: —E_%)
ZFEHERREM -




33.

34.

35.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any contingent liabilities at the
end of the reporting period (2013: Nil).

PLEDGED OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, none of the Group’s
assets (2013: Nil) were pledged to secure the Group’s
banking facilities.

RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions between the Company and
its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company,
have been eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note.

Unless otherwise disclosed in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not enter into any material
related party transactions during the year and did not
have any material balances with related parties at the
end of the reporting period.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year are disclosed in the note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

33.

34.

35.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 &= —%
(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

—OET-—A=t-HLEE

36. MBEAREERERBE

OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables, financial derivatives, convertible notes
and other borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below. The Group’s
accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out
in note 4 to the financial statements.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
that counterparties fail to perform their obligations at 31
December 2014 in relation to each class of recognized
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade and other receivables. In order to minimise
credit risk, management has certain monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade
receivables regularly at each reporting date to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are adequately made for
irrecoverable amounts. The credit risk on liquid funds is
limited because the counterparties are commercial banks
with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit—
rating agencies. The Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers.

AEEZIZSMIABREE S REMEI

w o BHeRREFEER  EHREME
MEER - 2RMITETE - TRERERENEEA
B - ZEFERTAZHBRARMERR

B o

AEESRTIEELEZTZRABRAEER
k- FIRRR - INERRRTBESRR ©
EEgRILAELSEZERRE 2 EEBBE
WXl - REBBBAITETA S5
BRI IR M54 o

FERR

HERZHFHELIABTREBRE-F N
Ft+-_A=t—BFHSHCHEITREE
ZER  AEEAR 2 ZRKEERRSEE
MBIRARAMMIN R ZEEE ZRMEE -
x%l%xzmgm T RREE S MEM
fElezE - REREREEERR  BEED
“*”F%Q&V FEIRE %Wﬁ 178038
WOBBIERS o tesh - RE|ERH - A%KH
E R SR ER B E B iRz AT E £
o ERREENESRIEH R A RER
B AN SHTF I REEREEFREE

TABEETAZ MERT  REDESY
EEERAR - AEELESEED 2 B
AR BRAWHREARSZZFUTFFR
=F -




36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s bank deposits. All the deposits are on a floating
rate basis.

The Group does not use financial derivatives to hedge
against the interest rate risk. However, the interest rate
profile of the Group’s net deposits (being bank deposits
less any interest-bearing financial liabilities) is closely
monitored by management.

At 31 December 2014, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points (2013: 50 basis
points) in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s loss
before tax and accumulated losses by approximately
HK$937,000 (2013: HK$75,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the reporting date and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for the non-derivative
financial liabilities in existence at that date. The 50 basis
points increase/decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the next annual reporting date.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2013.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures,
primarily with respect to Renminbi (“RMB”), for the years
2014 and 20183. Such exposures arise from provision of
an internet platform for the facilitation of education
program in Chinese Medicine and other advisory and
training programs in currencies other than the Group’s
functional currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollar). All of the
Group’s sales are denominated in RMB for the years 2014
and 2013.

36.
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e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZ —F—MF+-_A=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in HK$) (JA 7 7T 51 7R)
36.

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT BKEREEREREE @

OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

The Group conducts its business transactions principally
in RMB. The exchange rate risk of the Group is not
significant.

Liquidity risk

For the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash
and cash equivalents considered adequate by
management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.
Management reviews and monitors its working capital
requirements regularly.

The following table details the contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates) and the earliest date the Group can
be required to pay:

SINEEE B B ()

AR B B AT EINE PR o AT - BIE
BTIERIMNERR  TERNFEREEYH
HRERINERR o

AEBTEAARBETEEBRS - A%
B2 ERRERILTEK -

RBES R

REBAEEZRBES AR  NEBEERE
F#mREMRSSEREANEEER/RE
F2KF - ARAREEHRETRES R
HERERERPDITE - BEEESEHNR
AREREEEESRLK -

TRAVNARERBERRNERBESD
BN ERABREBSITORFTRAS
mE (BIEUFTHORRGTHEZF S0 ©2A
SERBEXNFRAZEREBHFE

More than one  More than two Total
Ondemandor  yearbutless yearsbutless  undiscounted Carrying
within one year than two years  than five years cash flow amount
EEZR -FHE WENL KBRS
%—FR B F AR BRER HEHE RHE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
T THER T TET TET
At 31 December 2014 R-ZE-ME+=-F=1-H
Financial liabilites ~ £®EE
Trade and other payables & % & 2t E(FBE 3% 44,611 - - 44,611 44,611
Convertible notes pEES 10,000 - - 10,000 9,382
At 31 December 2013 W=Z-=F+-fA=1-H
Financial liabilites ~ £®EE
Trade and other payables & % & 2t B (FBE 3% 48,168 - - 48,168 48,168
Other borrowings AR 35,537 34,854 - 70,391 66,787
Convertible notes pEES 55,273 68,526 - 123,799 113,217
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. i EAKREEREREE @
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

(Continued)

a)

Financial instruments EWMITA
Categories of financial instruments TRITAZSHE
The Group a) PINS
4 31 December 31 Deoember\
2014 2013
—E-—MmEF —E-=F
t=A=+-H +-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
\_ TEx %"é@
Financial assets cREE
Loans and receivables (including ERRERRIE
cash and cash equivalents) (BEEeAESEEIER) 352,908 113,551
Financial liabilities cREE
Amortised cost i DN 36,828 207,960
The Company b) ViIN/NE]!
4 31 December 31 Deoember\
2014 2013
—Z-mE —E-=F
T=A=t-H +-A=+-H
HK$’000 HK$'000
\_ TERT ?5%7_3
Financial assets cREE
Loans and receivables (including BRIk ERRIA
cash and cash equivalents) (BEEeASEEIER) 405,387 141,581
Financial liabilities cREE

Amortised cost

8 P AR 17,331 185,520
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

—OET-—A=t-HLEE

BERREERE RBE @

OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMIAR®
Fair value hierarchy on a recurring basis BEEMEEFNEBZ A FEER
The Group and the Company NEE R A AT
4 Fair value hierarchy as at 31/12/14 \
R—OFE+-_A=+—HZAFEEHR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— B E=H &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
\_ FHET FET FET =F5§7_c/
Financial liabilities sRas
Financial derivative SROITETE - 8 - 8
4 Fair value hierarchy as at 31/12/13 N
R—=F+ZA=1+—HB2Z2FEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& E-R E=R a5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
\_ FAT FAT FHET ?7‘%7_5/
Financial liabilities cEas
Financial derivative ERITETE - 500 - 500
The Group and the Company did not have any financial RZE—WHF+ZA=+—H AEBEKEARK

assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as at
31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).

The fair value of financial derivative is determined using
binomial tree model and the inputs used in the fair value
measurement are volatility and discount rate.

AREYEEARBEFERERZAFEAE
MEREE(CT—=F:H) °

SRTETANRFENER - XEELE
E o ARATFEAEMANBAZEARSY
MR BRI R -

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FN - eREERERARLE—BREZ
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no FzBEHBERQTERFE - MEE AE
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets PE=R(ZE—=F: &) o

and financial liabilities (2013: Nil).

Fair value 2 FE

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial EERE RV BRRBERANENEE
assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated remeENEmEREATERS °

financial statements approximate their fair values.




36.

37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from 2013.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
mainly includes other borrowings and convertible notes,
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommmendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION

At annual general meeting of the Company held on 23
May 2011, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) and the share option
scheme adopted on 24 November 2001 (the “Old
Scheme”) became terminated therefrom. The Share
Option Scheme became effective on 23 May 2011 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date. Upon termination of
Old Scheme, no further Options under the Old Scheme
can be granted but the Options which have been granted
during the life of the Old Scheme shall continue to be
exerciseable in accordance with their terms of issue and
the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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37. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE 37. AR EEEHFMN »

COMPENSATION (Continued)
Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant
options to any employee of the Group or any other
persons who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group to subscribe
for shares of the Company at a price determined by the
Board and shall be no less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of offer of the option which must be a business day,
(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of offer of the options; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share on the date of offer of the options.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue at any
time. The maximum number of shares issuable under the
share option to each eligible participant in the Scheme
Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.

Any grant of options to a participant who is a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
or their respective associates must be approved by the
independent non-executive directors (excluding
independent non-executive director who is grantee). In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of
the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time
and with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company'’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of
HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period, are subject
to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

BB HE T &

RIEBERETS > EFARAKEEARE
BEREZe2RPBERALBLARSHAE
BELER 2 EAEMALTREAIRBAL
Aty 2 ERHE - BRAEFTSER - BT
BFERTIISREZEZESE - ((REBRES A
(BAREER) RO FEE AP B K LA
ZWHE ERRLEREE B AEE
E AR B PT B R ARz P
B Ri)RHBRES ARM ZHmE -

R AT 8 AN R AHET A th AR At
SRR E A BREETT R THITZ
BOEE AR FRENERKREC ET
Pin B 810% » IE+ —EAMEA - R
BERER T TSBREFENAERS
HENROD&ESHERRARFERNKRD
TITRID 1% °

M2EE BIARARES  ZRTBRABHE
EZRFARFEESEZHBAL) B ERAE -
BRBNIDITEE (TRIEFREFEAZE
SIEHITEE) BOA o AN - RMERTZEA
HEA  MARRFERRFBILIERNITE
ERRFCAMABEATEDEMBEAR
AMERIF B TR 0.1% M EE (R AR
AR BREBEHNERTE) BB
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37. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE 37. UBREZRHEEFHFH =
COMPENSATION (Continued)
Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRESE @
The movements in the share options of the Company FRARRBEREZEHHNTX

during the year are shown in the following table:

Exercise At Granted  Exercised  Cancelled At
Name of Exercise period and price 1 January during during during 31 December
the participant Date of grant vesting period per sharg 2014 the year the year the year 2014
HK
RZg-RE
R-E-B% t2A
SRANE REAH TEERERS ﬁ&ﬁ%@ -A-B  ERRE  FRAR FAEE =t-8
B
Directors
gz
Chen Hong (note 1) 28/8/2008 28/08/2008-27/08/2018 1281 3,188,683 - - - 3,188,653
R (1) “EEN\E “EEN\ENAZT/\BZ
NAZTN\H 5 ENAZTLR
09/07/2009 09/07/2009-08/07/2019 0652 3,188,653 - - - 3,188,653
ZEENE “EENELANAE
tANR ZE-NELANR
112/2013 1112/2013-10/12/2023 0.1 10,000,000 - (10,000,000) - -
—2-cF -5 :$+*H+*Bi
t-At-B ZRCZEYCATA
Li Xiangjun 28/08/2008 28/08/2008-27/08/2018 1281 2,349,534 - - - -
EhE —EENE :T&T&/\ﬁ)\ﬂiﬂ\ﬁﬁ
NEZt/NH 5 ENAZTLR
09/07/2009 09/07/2009-08/07/2019 0652 4,363,420 - - - -
ZEENE ‘**hifﬂnﬁi
tAhE S-NELANR
Yuan Wei (note 3) 1/12/2013 1112/2013-10/12/2023 0.1 10,000,000 - (10,000,000) - -
2R (M) zgf,i “E-ZErCAT-BE
+ZA+-A ~2oE- 1A
10/07/2014 0/07/20 4-09/07/2024 0.168 - 10,000,000  (10,000,000) - -
“E-F ‘*—@Hﬂﬁi
tA+H Z-NELANR
SJUbf 33,090,260 10,000,000  (30,000,000) - 13,090,260
Others
2
In aggregate 28/08/2008 28/08/2008-27/08/2018 1281 3,692,124 - - - 3,692,124
At —EENE “EEN\ENAZT/\BZ
NEZtH ZE-\ENAZTtH
In aggregate 09/07/2009 09/07/2000-08/07/2019 0652 7,384,249 - - - 7,384,249
At ZEENE “ESNELANRE
tANR ZZ-NELANR
In aggregate 112/2013 1112/2013-10/12/2023 0.1 112,000,000 - (112,000,000) - -
af 5= A*—$+ At-B%
+ZA+-A “RCZETCATA
In aggregate 10/07/2014 10/07/2014-09/07/2024 0.168 - 155,000,000 (113,000,000) - 42,000,000
af ZE-ME “E-M¥tATRE
tA+R ZEZMELANR
156,166,633 165,000,000 (255,000,000} - 66,166,633
Exercisable at the end of the year 66,166,633
RERTR
Weighted average exercise price HKS0.2287 HK$0.1787T HK$0.13E 7T - HK$0.435 T

NEFIIRE
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37. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE 37. UBREZRHEEFHFH =
COMPENSATION (Continued)
Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRESE @
The movements in the share options of the Company FRARRBEREZEHHNTX

during the year are shown in the following table:

Exercise At Granted  Exercised  Cancelled At
Name of Exercise period and pice 1 January during during during 31 December
the participant Date of grant vesting period per sharg 2013 the year the year the year 2013
HK
RZE-=F
) RZB-=% i +28
Ay RIS TRBREES i%ﬁ%@ -A-B  ERRE FAORE FREE =t-A
BT
Directors
g2
Chen Hong (note 1) 28/08/2008 28/08/2008-27/08/2018 1281 3,188,683 - - - 3,188,653
R (1) —EEN\E “EEN\ENAZT/\BZ
NAZTNA 5 ENAZTLR
09/07/2009 09/07/2009-08/07/2019 0652 3,188,653 - - - 3,188,653
ZEENE :TTHE&HHH?
tAhE Z-hELANR
11212013 /12/20 -10/12/2023 0.1 - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
-2-= “E-CET-AT-RE
+ZA+-A ZECZETZATR
Wei Jianya (note 2) 28/08/2008 28/08/2008-27/08/2018 1281 1,342,591 - - (1,342,591) -
T (2 —EEN\E “EEN\ENAZT/\BE
NAZTNH 5 ENAZTLR
09/07/2009 09/07/2009-08/07/2019 0652 1,006,943 - - (1,006,943) -
ZEENE ‘**hifﬂnﬁi
tAhE Z-WELANR
Li Xiangjun 28/08/2008 28/08/2008-27/08/2018 1281 2,349,534 - - - 2,349,534
EHE “EENE Z2ZN\ENAZT/\BE
NEZtNH Z5-N\ENAZTLR
09/07/2009 09/07/2009-08/07/2019 0652 4,363,420 - - - 4,363,420
ZITNE ZEENELANAE
EARE ZE-AFEANE
Yuan Wei (note 3) 1171212013 11/12/2013-10/12/2023 0.1 - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
R (Hta) ZE-CE ZE-ZEYCAT-BE
+tZA+-8 ZRCZEYCRTA
SJub% 15,439,794 20,000,000 - (2,349,534 33,090,260
Others
2t
i aggrega 28/08/2008 28/08/2008-27/08/2018 1281 3,692,124 - - - 3,692,124
A “EENE “EEZN\ENAZT/\RE
NAZTNH - \ENAZTLR
In aggregate 09/07/2009 09/07/2009-08/07/2019 0662 7,384,249 - - - 7,384.249
gk ZETNE “EENELANAE
tANR “Z-NELANR
In aggregate 1/12/2013 1112/2013-10/12/2023 0.1 - 112,000,000 - - 112,000,000
Ak :2—:5 :? ‘¢+‘H+—Ei
tZA+-A ZECCETCATA
26,516,167 132,000,000 - [2,349,534) 156,166,633
Exercisable at the end of the year 156,166,633
RERMTR
Weighted average exercise price HKS0.90T HK$0.10% T - HKS1.01%T HKS0.22i87T

MEFSRE




37. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Chen Hong has resigned as director on 14 February
2014.

2. Ms. Wei Jianya has resigned as director on

19 November 2013.

3. Mr. Yuan Wei was appointed as director on
19 November 2013.

On 11 December 2013, the Company granted
132,000,000 Options to Grantees under the Company’s
Share Option Scheme adopted on 23 May 2011.

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2013, the
number of share options granted was
132,000,000 (2012: nil). Of which, 20,000,000
options were granted to the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) 20,000,000 Options
were granted to the employee of the Company
(the “Employee”) and 92,000,000 Options were
granted to the Company’s external consultants
(the “Consultants”). The fair value of options
granted under the Share Option Scheme,
amounted to HK$6,224,000 of average HK$0.047
each. The fair values of the outstanding options
were derived from Trinomial Option Pricing Model
by applying the following assumptions:

Options granted to Employees

Date of grant
(dd-mm-yy) Grantee
REAH
(B-A-%) RRA
11.12.2013 Diectors ~ E%

“Z-=%1+-F+—H Emplojee (EE

Consultants B
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1. RELAEN_Z—NFE_A+NHETE

=o

2. BRGREIN -_E—=F+—ATNLB#H
FE=-

3. REAER-Z-—=F+—RB+thLBEZ
TRES-

R-B—=F+-A+—R  ARARER
—F——#BA-+ZARMZERE
2| - AR A H132,000,00017 B8 Ak HE -

(@) REE-ZE—=F+-A=1+—HItF
& - AR E 4132,000,00019
(ZF—=%F : /) - Er - 20,000,000
DEBRERTARRES([EE)) -
20,000,00017 i I % T AR R EE B
(M2 & J) LA K292,000,00017 BE RS 1% 5
A RIMNERERS ([RERT)) o RIREERR I
ST EIPTIR H AR H 2 B /6,224,000
BT - B ERETHR0.04TETT -
ﬁﬁkfﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂxﬁém NHEA=TEAEER
BEEERNGTE - FIRARERET -

RTESHBRE
Expected length
of employment
and services
Expected  (“Expected life”) Risk-free Expected
volatility (in years) interest rate dividend yield
REEAR
R 7% 50 PR
([EHHR])

BERE (%) ERRAZ BHRER
56.42% 3 0.47% Nilf&
56.42% 3 0.47% N3
73.23% 5 1.16% NilZE
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37. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Options granted to Consultants

The Group recognised the total expenses of

approximately HK$6,224,000 in relation to share

options granted by the Company.

(i)

(i

(ii)

the expected volatilities for the Options
granted to Directors were using the
average 3 years volatility of the Company’s
share price over the year for the
20,000,000 option granted to Directors as
at 11 December 2013.

the expected volatilities for the Options
granted to Employee were using the
average 3 years volatility of the Company’s
share price over the year for the
20,000,000 options granted to Employees
as at 11 December 2013.

the expected volatilities for the Options
granted to Consultants were using the
average 5 years volatility of the Company’s
share price over the year for the 92,000,000
options granted to Consultants as at 11
December 2013.

the applicable risk free rates were
generated from Bloomberg based on the
Hong Kong Government 3 years Bond
Yield and 5 years Bond Yield, matching the
assumed life of the options.

the expected dividend yields were
estimated based on the historical dividend,
which was zero.
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EFEENERE

NEBEREABAQRRLERE
4888 49/56,224,0005 7T °

(i

(i)

RTESMERENTEDRE
TIARR =—E—=F+=A+
— BH®FZE£20,000,00017 i
f&#E 2 FE 2 RNQRSFIRE
ZFHEEMETE -

TR B A8 i i 69 78 B 08
TR —E—=F+-F+
— H# T {& 820,000,00017 &
f&#E 2 FE2ARQRSFIRE
L FHREMERE °

BT ERENTEEDL R
TIARR —E—=F+=A+
— B & F B 92,000,00017 i
fRHE 2 FE 2 RNAEISFRE
2 REmEE -

i A A B B 1 2= T B Bloomberg
BESSRNITHESZR
ERSFHMEFEREME
A BREERRAE 2 R HAME D

A

TS TR £ IR ()
fiat -




37. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

On 10 July 2014, the Company granted
165,000,000 Options to Grantees under the
Company’s Share Option Scheme adopted on 23
May 2011.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the
number of share options granted was
165,000,000 (2013: 132,000,000). Of which,
10,000,000 options were granted to the director
of the Company (the “Directors’), 25,000,000
Options were granted to the employee of the
Company (the “Employee”) and 130,000,000
Options were granted to the Company’s external
consultants (the “Consultants”). The fair value of
options granted under the Share Option Scheme,
amounted to HK$5,730,000 of average HK$0.035
each. The fair values of the outstanding options
were derived from Trinomial Option Pricing Model
by applying the following assumptions:
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(@)

(#&)

RZZE—NF+A+H  XAERE
R-EBE——FRA-+=AFMNE
ARHEETE] - mAFSR AR 165,000,000
DR -

REE-ZF—NF+-A=1+—HIF
& - R MIEILIESL B A165,000,000(%
—ZF— =4 :132,000,00017) ° E
H + 10,000,00017 g AR #E & T AN 2 A
EZEE([EF]) - 25,000,00017 §& A% #E
BETARRIEE([EE]) AR
130,000,00017 & Az #E# T 2N A R HMNEE
BER ([RERL) o IRIEEARET BIPTH
B AR e 1)~ T {E 725,730,000 7T
B BT 50.0358TT o MATT
FEBRAEN R FENZEAERET
BEAFE  FAERAREZENT

Options granted to Employees RFESHEBRE
4 Expected length N
of employment
and services
Date of grant Expected  (“Expected life”) Risk-free Expected
(dd-mm-yy) Grantee volatility (in years) interest rate dividend yield
RHERR
FR 75 £ PR
REAH (REER))
\(H—ﬁ—ﬁ) ABA RHKIE (%) BERAZE ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%@
10.7.2014 Director 22 63.28% 1 0.13% Nil £
E-MEEATH Employee (28 77.12% 05 0.12% Nil
Consultants 77.12% 05 0.12% Nil%E
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37. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Options granted to Consultants

The Group recognised the total expenses of

approximately HK$5,730,000 in relation to share

options granted by the Company.

(i)

(i

(ii)

the expected volatilities for the Options
granted to Director was using the average
1 year volatility of the Company’s share
price over the year for the 10,000,000
options granted of Director as at 10 July
2014.

the expected volatilities for the Options
granted to Employee were using the
average 0.5 year volatility of the Company’s
share price over the year for the
25,000,000 options granted to Employees
as at 10 July 2014.

the expected volatilities for the Options
granted to Consultants were using the
average 0.5 year volatility of the Company’s
share price over the year for the
130,000,000 options granted to
Consultants as at 10 July 2014,

the applicable risk free rates were
generated from Bloomberg based on the
Hong Kong Government 0.5 Year Bond
Yield and 1 Year Bond Yield, matching the
assumed life of the options.

the expected dividend yields were
estimated based on the historical dividend,
which was zero.
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(i

(i)

BT EEERENIAIIKIE
AR =T —NF+A+H
# T E %£10,000,00017 & R 4
ZEEZARRRNEREZF
K EMETE e

BT REMERENTEILR
AR - —NE+ A+H
% ¥ (g 8 25,000,00017 & 1% #
ZEEZARAROSFEREZF
HREMERE -

BT ERENTEELE
TOAB R —E—MFE+ A+ H
T EEf5130,000,00017 B A%
W2 FEZNAROSFREZ
FHREMERE °

i A A @ B 1 2= T B Bloomberg
BIEEBBF0LSFHESFER
ER1FHEFERLXRE
A BREEIRAE 2 AR HAME R

A
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37. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (Continued)

38.

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(b)

The values of the Options are subject to the
limitations of the Trinomial Option Pricing Model
and a number of assumptions which are subjective
and difficult to ascertain. Changes in the subjective
input assumptions could materially affect the fair
value estimate.

The outstanding share options under the Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2014 was
66,166,633 (2013: 156,166,633) representing
2.1% (2013: 9.7%) of the shares of the Company
in issue at that date.

(d) If options are forfeited before expiration or lapsed,
the related share-based payment will be
transferred directly to retained earnings/
accumulated losses.

EVENTS AFTER THE

REPORTING PERIOD

On 17 November 2014, the Company entered into
a strategic cooperation agreement (“Strategic
Cooperation Agreement”) with Beijing Beizhong
Asset Management Company Limited (3t = b A
BEEMAR A TF) (“Beiing Beizhong”) in relation
to the transfer of 49% of the right of income of
the Distance Education College of the Beijing
University of Chinese Medicine (1t 5 A B8 &2k £
=122 A £F3) from the Beijing University of
Chinese Medicine (It = B 2K &) to the
Company and other cooperation projects (the
“Cooperation”).

On 12 February 2015, the Company and Beijing
Beizhong agreed in writing to extend the time for
taking practical actions in respect of the
Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation
Agreement for another three months.
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) BERENBEX="EABREEER
HNZRBIARZ BT BN ATEE 2
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FEMBFEREATE -

) MZZT—mF+—A=1+—08  BIE
18T 2 AT 71 BB A /566,166,633
M (ZZ—=4 : 156,166,63313) * 1k
RARIRNEBEBEITRMO2.1% (=
T—=F1097%) °

(d)  fis i BE AR B S R AT H08 W
BRABRSNREREXERERE
&R, R EE

38. HEWREE

1. RZF—MFE+—A+t+tH  ARF
RUARTBEBEASERIL RHBEEX
BERHE BRr49%WEETARE
KEAMAERR ([41F]) B Rt
BEEEARAR ([IERIF]) FE
BEE A iR (BB A ) -
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38. EVENTS AFTER THE 38. EHEEIE »

REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

2. On 22 January 2015, the Company repurchased
on the Stock Exchange a total of 21,872,000
shares at a total consideration of approximately
HKD10,540,000. On 23 January 2015, the
Company repurchased on the Stock Exchange a
total of 17,568,000 shares at a total consideration
of approximately HKD8,811,000. A total of
39,440,000 shares have been cancelled on 9
February 2015.

R-ZZE—RHFE—A-+_-H ARF
LA#E R (B %710,540,0007% LB X AT
BR[O 4 21,872,000 /%% - R=Z
—RE—RA=-+=8 " XATLAER
B498,811,000/8 LB 22 FTAE & Ht
17,568,000/ &7 » & $£39,440,000
BRHER_—_E—RE_A NPT
8 °

39. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 39. LbEEE

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform to the current year’s presentation.

ATHBRBEBEDE)  UNEAFEZE
BT e
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